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the world is that possible appropriate to have him testify as a so-called expert 

witness?  I've never heard of such a thing. 

The second opinion is hearsay conversation where he says Mr. 

Schwartz told him in 1994, that he'd give a million dollars to the school if the 

school would be named for him, which of course, interestingly enough, 

contradicts his other statement. 

THE COURT:  No.  No, this is what -- the Rabbi is the one who 

started the other school.  And for a period of time, Milton was involved with 

the other school.   

MR. JONES:  Right. 

THE COURT:  And he promised them $100,000 if they'd name that 

school after him. 

MR. JONES:  Oh, I'm sorry.   

THE COURT:  That's how I read that. 

MR. JONES:  Okay.  

THE COURT:  Which I think is just fact. 

MR. JONES:  Well, maybe I just misread it, but then -- 

THE COURT:  I don't think that's -- that's an opinion.   

MR. JONES:  And then telling him that it was his understanding -- 

Milton Schwartz told him that what his understanding was of his intent in 

naming the school.   

Your Honor, I guess I would have to ask this Court how in the 

world is that appropriate in a court of law to have a rabbi come in and say, 

well, you know, in the Jewish faith that this is something that's important to 

people and, therefore, that's why he did it.  I think that's appalling. 
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THE COURT:  That's the ultimate question.  That's the ultimate 

question.  So, I'm not sure he can say that, but I did think some of this was 

proper expert testimony because many of us may not know some of these -- 

and, you know, this is his opinion as to what the Jewish religion provides for, 

but there's -- on the first page of his report, it starts like the fourth paragraph, 

the long paragraph:  In the Jewish religion, it is important for members to 

perform good deeds.   I mean to the extent the jury needs to hear that, I 

think -- 

MR. JONES:  And how does that relate to --   

THE COURT:  -- I think if that was just the jury.   

MR. JONES:   -- to necessarily relate to Mr. Schwartz?  Because 

that's a general statement, so -- 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. JONES:  -- how is it relevant to our trial unless they can relate 

it back to Mr. Schwartz?  And the only way they could do that is through 

hearsay.  You can't bootstrap in a, at least from my perspective -- I mean I 

could think of all kinds of absurd results.  I'll start getting experts for all kinds 

of interesting propositions that would then allow me to somehow or another 

bootstrap hearsay testimony in.   

Because even if he says that, what relevance does that have in this 

case unless it could be tied back to Mr. Schwartz and his intent that there is -- 

that some Jewish people that have this belief and that the Jewish faith, this is 

an important issue.  How religious was Mr. Schwartz?  And if he was real 

religious, is that like he did this?  That to me is exactly what the hearsay rule 

has been created to prohibit.   
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So, I don't know -- you know, obviously the Court's going to do 

what it -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.  

MR. JONES:  -- it thinks is right, but I -- is there anything else that 

the Court thinks is appropriate for the rabbi to testify about? 

THE COURT:  Well, I was wondering because he seemed more of a 

fact witness to me than an expert.  He --   

MR. JONES:  Well, he is.   

THE COURT:  -- he has these two incidents that he relates where he 

says:  When Milton was on his break from the Hebrew Academy, he came to 

me in my little school that I had started and said I'll give you $100,000 if you 

name it after me, but then he, again, he mended fences and went back to the 

Hebrew Academy.  So that's just a fact.   

And then he talks about how in 2004, he was associated with 

something different and Milton said, would you -- if I give you money, would 

you name the educational sanctuary after him.  And the guy said, I did.  He 

gave me the money, and I did it. 

So, I have problems with going on and then tying that somehow to 

the Schwartz -- the Milton Schwartz Hebrew Academy concept.  I mean I did 

see that he does have expert information about the theory of within the Jewish 

religion of why one --    

MR. JONES:  I --   

THE COURT:  -- makes charitable contributions kind of like Dr. 

Sabbath said in her letter we're recognizing this about you.  

MR. JONES:  I certainly understand that part of your point, Judge.  
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I don't know how that has any place in a trial in this case.  There's no evidence 

that Mr. Schwartz did -- not from Mr. Schwartz -- Milton Schwartz -- there's no 

evidence from Mr. Schwartz, other than hearsay, that the reason he did this is 

because of the reasons as dictated by the rabbi as something that could have 

been the reasons he did it.   

And so, what -- the problem with that kind of testimony is if the 

Court allows it in, let's just say we had a jury, then the jury hears -- they -- I 

think that that provides a great basis for error.  Well, if the Court allowed that 

in, that must have been the reason that he did it.  If you don't allow the 

hearsay in -- which I think it would be clear error to allow that kind of a 

statement in from the rabbi of what Milton Schwartz told him -- if you don't 

allow it in, then you've got this testimony in a vacuum.  And the only inference 

to be raised as to why it came in is because it must relate to this case and that 

must be the reason why Milton Schwartz did this. 

I just think it creates a terrible precedent and a terrible 

circumstance for testimony that is disconnected to the specific issues in this 

case.  I'm not -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. JONES:  -- disputing that he's a rabbi and he has some 

rabbinical knowledge and that's all well and good, but how is that appropriate 

to come up in this case?  There's nothing in the bequest.  There's nothing in 

the resolution that says -- that talks about this issue and suggests in any way, 

shape, or form that this is why he was doing it.  

THE COURT:  So, even -- he does have religious knowledge, and 

it's here in this one little -- in two little paragraphs about this is the basic tenet 
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of  the Jewish religion or whatever. 

MR. JONES:  Right.  

THE COURT:  I can see how he's an expert there, but I understand 

your concern that how he can link that to Milton is -- I mean that seemed like 

he's making -- I don't know how he gets there.  He does have factual 

information, though.  He has two specific incidents when he talked about 

money and naming things with Milton.  He had two conversations.  Those are 

just fact.   

MR. JONES:  I agree. 

THE COURT:  It's not an expert opinion.  It's just a fact.  He's just a 

fact witness. 

MR. JONES:  And those facts are blatant hearsay, and they're 

excluded by the hearsay rule. 

THE COURT:  No, not really.  I mean --   

MR. JONES:  Why would they not be, Your Honor? 

THE COURT:  Milton came to him and said -- 

MR. JONES:  It's an out-of-court statement being offered for the 

truth of the matter. 

THE COURT:  Right, but what did the -- Rabbi Wynne do in 

response?  When he -- Rabbi Wynne testified the reason why at whatever this 

is, I don't know -- the Schule --The reason why it ended up this being named 

the Milton Schwartz Education Center is because that was the condition of the 

gift, so I honored it.  That's -- isn't that  (indiscernible) testimony?  

MR. JONES:  Well, he can say that -- he can say what was in his 

mind -- 
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THE COURT:  Uh-huh.  Right.   

MR. JONES:  -- his belief.  He can't say what Milton Schwartz said 

to him. 

THE COURT:  Okay.    

MR. JONES:  There's a difference.  I certainly can appreciate that 

point, but, again, how that's -- and that, by the way, is not being -- he's not 

being -- he's being offered here as an expert witness, not as a fact witness.  

And so, if that's the Court's position, I would vehemently object to them then 

trying to use him as a fact witness when they've offered him as an expert.     

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thanks. 

MR. FREER:  Your Honor, you kind of hit the nail on the head with 

respect to he's both.  He's a percipient expert, nothing different than a treating 

physician.  We agree with you that the only expert testimony there is 

paragraphs 4, 5, and 6.  The rest of it is fact witness.  And the purpose for the 

expert testimony is to allow him to lay a foundation regarding the tenets of 

Jewish religion to put into context the statements or the conversations that he 

had with Milton. 

Now, back to the whole hearsay, it does relate back because 

hearsay in this case in terms of the portion of the trial dealing with the 

construction of the will, hearsay is completely admissible for any and all 

reason with respect to the decedent and his intent.   

THE COURT:  Right, but here was my concern about -- he seems to 

just be drawing the ultimate conclusion.  From my conversations with Milton, I 

know that he was very aware of these concepts from the Jewish religion.  

Indeed, he was keenly aware of the dual need to provide charity to education 
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and to preserve his namesake and legacy in order to continue his progression 

in the afterlife. 

MR. FREER:  And that was based on the 15 -- 13-year relationship 

they had with each other in the conversations. 

THE COURT:  Can an expert make that kind of conclusion? 

MR. FREER:  Well, I mean if you want to limit --  

THE COURT:  Because he's not talking about the will. 

MR. FREER:  -- if you want to limit that ultimate issue, but in terms 

of the hearsay discussions, I mean we briefed the hearsay with respect to 

intent -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MR. FREER:  -- ad nauseum. 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Right.     

MR. FREER:  And --   

THE COURT:  But my problem here is that he wasn't dealing with 

Milton that last -- it's interesting.  The last time he came back to him and said, 

do you need some money, $100,000, name it after me, that was right about the 

time he wrote the will.  I mean I know it was amended a couple of times, but 

that's right about the time he wrote the will in 2004. 

But it doesn't seem to indicate that that was in the context of 

writing his will.  And so, that's kind of the distinction here.  I mean he could 

draw his conclusions about why Milton wrote his will the way he did, but 

that's not based on anything Milton might have sat down and talked to him 

and say, look, I want to try to honor this principle that we've talked about and, 

you know, how would I do this?  Would it work if I do this in my will? 
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It's just a general -- I had general conversations with him about 

these issues.  Okay.  But I don't -- how can you draw that conclusion?  I mean it 

doesn't seem to me -- 

MR. FREER:  Well, maybe we limit that ultimate conclusion.  But 

the issue here is whether or not he's allowed to testify at all.  

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. FREER:  And, clearly, he meets the standards for an expert 

with respect to paragraphs 4,  5, and 6.  He also has percipient testimony with 

respect to that.  And, you know, with respect to discussions regarding the 

intent and stuff, you go back to the Jones Estate case where basically in 

matters of will construction, any evidence is admissible to explain what the 

testator meant.  And so, all this does is help lead to what -- remember this 

Court said, the ultimate question of fact, and this is the order of 3/10/15:  The 

ultimate question of fact will be decided by the jury on the Adelson Campus' 

claim to compel distribution is whether Decedent Milton I. Schwartz intended 

the 500,000 bequest, identified in Section 2.3 of his Last Will and Testament to 

be made only to an entity named after him bearing the name Milton I. 

Schwartz Hebrew Academy. 

 And with respect to both the Jewish tenets and beliefs and his 

interactions with Milton, that is evidence that is relevant to what Milton 

understood and intended when he drafted his will.  Did he draft --  

THE COURT:  So, again, because your couching this guy as an 

expert, which puts him kind of in a different category in the jury's mind.   

Based upon such conversations, it is my firm belief and understanding that 

this was Milton's lifelong practice and intent to make contributions that would 
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bear his name and ensure a legacy for his name.  Indeed, from our 

conversations, it was Milton's clear intent that the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew 

Academy be named after him in perpetuity for reasons including, but not 

limited to, religious beliefs that he could only progress in the afterlife through 

good deeds bearing his name. 

MR. FREER:  That's a great conclusion, Your Honor.  I would love to 

keep that conclusion, but if Your Honor's got problems with it --  

THE COURT:  I don't --            

MR. FREER:  -- we'll have a limiting instruction with respect to -- 

THE COURT:  I'll --   

MR. FREER:  -- the ultimate -- with that ultimate conclusion.   

THE COURT:  Yeah, how can he come to this?  He can't invade the 

province of the jury.   

MR. FREER:  He's a very talented man, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  He can't invade the province of the 

jury.  

MR. FREER:  So, I mean but bottom line, what we're looking for is 

just having the foundation laid as to what the Jewish customs and beliefs  

were --   

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.   

MR. FREER:  -- because we're talking about what did Milton 

understand and what were his beliefs when he was drafting that will. 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.   

MR. FREER:  Having him talk about paragraphs 4 ,5 ,and 6 with 

respect to the donative intent, and the meetings, and the dual purposes, that's 
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clearly within his realm as an expert.  If Your Honor wants to limit the amount 

of testimony that it has in terms of coming to an ultimate conclusion based on 

that, that's fine, but he should be allowed to testify as to those Jewish tenets 

and beliefs, and he should be allowed to testify as to his personal knowledge 

of interactions with Milton in terms of drawing an ultimate conclusion.  I will 

stipulate here and now that he can't draw an ultimate conclusion.    

THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  

MR. JONES:  Think about what they're saying, Judge.  They're 

saying they want to be able to get the rabbi to say in the Jewish faith, this is 

why you do something like this.  And that alone -- so what happens in closing 

argument?  What does a lawyer say?  The lawyers says that's why -- as the 

rabbi told you, that's why Milton Schwartz did this.  That's why this was 

important. 

So, even though there will be no testimony to that effect, that's 

what the lawyer's going to say in argument.  

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.   

MR. JONES:  That is totally inappropriate because that wouldn't be 

what the evidence is.  This is testimony that you're suggesting that it be 

allowed, it would be given in a vacuum.  So, there's a general proposition.  

That's like stereotyping that every Jewish person in the world, this is the only 

reason they would have done it because that is the only reason they want it in 

is to create an inference that that's why Milton Schwartz did it.   

And, by the way, you cannot be an expert witness and a percipient 

witness.  You can't be both.    

THE COURT:  Right.   
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MR. JONES:  So --  

THE COURT:  Well, a treating doctor technically is, but --  

MR. JONES:  Well, you're right.  

THE COURT:  But -- 

MR. JONES:  A treating doctor is an exception.   

THE COURT:  Right.  But -- 

MR. JONES:  I'm sorry.  Go ahead, Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  -- but I mean this is not in the same context.  He 

doesn't talk about this being in the context if I was his religious advisor.  He 

talks about this in the context of they were friends and they talked about 

religion, and they --  

MR. JONES:  And that's really interesting -- 

THE COURT:  Okay.  

MR. JONES:  -- but it has nothing to do with admissible evidence in 

a court of law by an expert witness.    

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.   

MR. JONES:  And think of the prejudicial effect.  You get to say the 

statement.  It's like the smoking gun kind of thing.  You get to throw out the 

smoking gun, and then in closing argument the lawyer gets to point and say 

they're the ones that were holding the gun. 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh.          

MR. JONES:  It's just completely -- I've never heard of any such a 

thing.  And, by the way, this whole idea of the decedent's intent, that's okay to 

talk about, that is in connection with a will issue, an issue in the will. 

THE COURT:  Right.     
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MR. JONES:  The will has nothing to do with naming rights.  I defy 

Counsel to point to me where it says in the will that I've given this half a 

million dollars for the naming rights.  It doesn't say that.   

THE COURT:  Right.  Yeah.  And so, I understand that, which is why 

it seems to me that I appreciate the fact that he's identified as an expert, but it 

really seems that he's more of a percipient witness because he had these two 

interactions with Milton that were consistent with how he acted in the naming 

of the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy.  Those were -- just because -- it 

does go to -- in the context of a will, it does go to what did the person who 

wrote the will mean in those words.  And that's where we get into this whole 

problem of what if there's no more Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy. 

So, that testimony, it seems to me, is relevant to the idea of would 

he have only wanted it to be -- if it was the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew 

Academy or would it -- because with no -- this is about drafting wills.  This is 

all this is relevant to.  This is not relevant to did he have an agreement, did 

they breach the agreement.  It's not.  This is a very -- that's why it's such a 

mess.   

This is about the will.  And that's what I keep saying, this is about 

the will.  What did he mean when he said in his -- and I understand we've 

gotten into this whole -- of whether there was an agreement in perpetuity, but 

it's really about this will.  What does that language mean when you don't have 

a successor clause that says, I leave this to the Regional Justice Center or 

whatever successor courthouse there may later be.  That's the will.  That's the 

will issue. 

All he's talking about here is I dealt with him twice in which -- the 
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way he dealt with me is consistent with how -- why he would have -- this is 

what he would have meant in -- the jury should think this is what he meant in 

the will.   

MR. JONES:  No, you see I --   

THE COURT:  So, that's the problem with this.  It's trying to jumble 

up three different things.    

MR. JONES:  And I believe that -- 

THE COURT:  I'm sure he meant well, and he was just telling the 

truth about his interactions.   

MR. JONES:  Sure.   

THE COURT:  But I have real problems with it, the way it's written.   

MR. JONES:  Well, obviously, as do we, Your Honor.    

THE COURT:  Yeah.  

MR. JONES:  And we would ask that he be stricken.  It's not 

appropriate for him to testify in this case.  It's just not.  Any testimony he gives 

that is not clearly hearsay is speculative in nature.  

THE COURT:  Right.  Okay.  

MR. JONES:  So, as to what Mr. Schwartz's intent was in 1990. 

THE COURT:  Right.  Yeah.  Because, of course, it predates.  But I'm 

only talking about -- this to me is relevant to the will -- 

MR. JONES:  I understand what you're saying. 

THE COURT:  -- which he wrote in 2004.   

MR. JONES:  I understand.   

THE COURT:  And it's consistent with what he at the -- here at the 

same time was talking to his friend about, about giving money to his 
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organization which, in fact, named a room after him.  That's interesting.  That's 

relevant to the will, but the rest of it I just have a real problem with. 

MR. JONES:  So, you're ruling is, Your Honor?   

THE COURT:  So, I mean I understand they named him as an 

expert.  And I appreciate the fact that he is an expert.  I don't know that there is 

any way you could couch his testimony other than invading the province of 

the jury with respect to what went on.  And besides it's very speculative 

because this all went on before he ever knew him.  So, that's my problem with 

most of this. 

The two anecdotes about the two times he dealt with Milton on 

naming rights issues, those to me are relevant, but they're facts.  He's not an 

expert.  Those are just facts that I had two interactions with Milton, other than 

our long relationship.  I get that, but I met him in 1994 in the middle of his fight 

with the Hebrew Academy and he was talking about -- and he made this offer.  

We didn't accept it, whatever.  That goes to when he then wrote his will in 

2004.  

 I mean I can see how there's -- the 2004 one to me is much more 

relevant to the will.  That's around the same time and it's totally consistent 

with what he was doing in this odd language that he used.  I mean did Oshins 

really write this will?  I think -- didn't Jonathan write it for him?  I think 

Jonathan wrote it for him.  He and Jonathan stepped down.  Didn't they write 

this will together?  Because this will is, I could tell you, not work product out of 

that office.  It seems this was a self-drafted will, as I recall.  Really odd 

language.  It would not have looked like that had any of these people actually 

written it for him.   
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So, if the argument is can he be introduced as an expert?  

Although he has information and expertise, which is undeniable, undeniable 

that he is an expert on the teachings of the Jewish religion, that to me -- I just 

don't see how you can get that in, because you have to make this ultimate 

conclusion that this is why he wrote the will the way he wrote it.  And an 

expert can't do that.  An expert can't do that.   

So, I don't see how his testimony could be anything other than as a 

fact witness based on these interactions that he personally had with Milton.  

He just -- it's unrelated to why he did what he did.  He can't say in 18 -- 19 -- 

not 18 -- 1988 that this was what motivated Milton.  I just don't see how he can 

do it.  I don't think there's any way you can use it as expert testimony from 

him. 

I do disagree with you, although I think it's incredibly specific as to 

does he have factual testimony he can give.  That's a different question, and -- 

MR. JONES:  Well, they didn't offer him as a fact witness, Your 

Honor.  

THE COURT:  -- in a different way.  So -- 

MR. JONES:  And we would object if they try to offer him as a fact 

witness now. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So, that's the question then.  If you -- 

it's a Rule of Civil Procedure question, which does apply in probate.  You know 

they don't want to.  He's identified as an expert witness, and -- but really what 

he is to me is a fact witness, but he wasn't identified as a fact witness. 

MR. JONES:  He's not.   

THE COURT:  And so, if he can't testify as an expert, can he testify 
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at all?  That's the question.     

MR. JONES:  We would object to him -- we'd move to strike him as 

a witness and certainly we didn't move to strike him as a fact witness, because 

they never offered him as such.  And so, had they done that, we would have 

moved to strike him as a fact witness as well.   

THE COURT:  Okay.    

MR. FREER:  In response to that, Your Honor, what he's going to 

testify as a fact witness is already laid out.  They already deposed him with 

respect to the facts.  

THE COURT:  But it's the civil procedure concept that -- 

MR. FREER:  And -- 

THE COURT:  -- if you identify somebody as an expert witness and 

it turns out they're not allowed to testify as an expert witness, can they still 

testify as a fact witness? 

MR. JONES:  I certainly don't believe they can.  I've never seen that 

happen once. 

THE COURT:  That an expert's stricken as an expert, but -- 

MR. FREER:  Well, when they're stricken as an expert, they're not 

offered -- allowed to give expert testimony.  But with respect to that percipient 

testimony that's already there, they could still provide that.  There's no harm 

or --    

THE COURT:  Usually an expert that's stricken, they don't have any 

personal knowledge. 

MR. FREER:  Correct. 

THE COURT:  They very seldom have personal knowledge.  I mean 
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sometimes they -- I mean they just -- I don't ever know an expert who has 

personal knowledge.  This is very unusual.  Usually you don't see an expert 

with personal knowledge. 

MR. JONES:  Your Honor, let me put it this way, I've never seen an 

expert witness -- and as you said, a doctor's a good example.  A doctor that 

has been identified as an expert witness, who has been stricken as an expert, 

but then was allowed to testify as a fact witness or a percipient witness.  So, I 

would object to them trying to at this point offer the rabbi as a fact witness 

when he has been offered up to this point in time, a week and a half before 

trial, as an expert witness.      

THE COURT:  Okay.    

MR. FREER:  And I would go back to there being no prejudice.  If 

Your Honor wants examples or us to look at it, we can turn around and come 

back on the -- what is it, the 15th, and address the issue whether he can testify 

as a percipient witness if he's stricken as an expert. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  That's the ruling is that -- because I'm with Mr. 

Jones.  Like I said, the only thing I can think of is a doctor.  And doctors do 

come in all the time, and they don't give any expert opinions.  They just talk 

about their treatment.  But they were identified that they're going to come in 

and talk about their treatment.  We're going to have an expert who testifies 

about the whole global picture.  This person was just a chiropractor, and he 

did three treatments.  They come in all the time like that. 

So, that -- it's really just the rule of civil procedure, which is if you 

identify an expert witness who also is within his expert opinions has personal 

knowledge like a doctor, some doctors come in and give expert opinions all 
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the time, and they have personal interactions with the person and they're 

based on facts they actually know.  But this is one where he was identified as 

an expert.  I don't know what your disclosure said.  To me, it's just a civil 

procedure issue of can he now testify because he absolutely has personal facts 

known to him.  Can he testify in that context?   

So, that would be the only question to be answered because 

otherwise I don't see any way he can testify.  It just -- everything he says sort 

of leads to the ultimate question for the jury is why was he doing this.  The 

two factual interactions seem to me to go -- well, actually, really only the 

second one, now that I think about it.  The second one goes very much to at 

the same time he was writing his will, he made this other offer to this -- what is 

this?  It's a Schule.  I don't know what that means.  

MR. FREER:   A Schule is a school I believe. 

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  A study group. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  A study group?  Okay.  He made the offer to 

this Schule to give them $100,000 to name -- to naming the room after him.  

That's the same time he's writing his will.  So, that to me is relevant.  That is a 

fact that is relevant, but if he wasn't identified as offering facts, just as an 

expert, can he still testify? 

So, if you want to research that, fine, and we can talk about it on 

Wednesday, but otherwise I don't see any way he can testify. 

MR. FREER:  Okay.  We will supplement, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  It's a real limited issue that he can testify at all and 

not as an expert, absolutely not as an expert. 

MR. JONES:  Your Honor, if they're going to do that, we're 
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supposed to respond to that when? 

THE COURT:  I don't know.  Just bring me -- I don't need to see it in 

writing.  Just if you can bring me something, because I don't know of anything 

out there that says -- has ever really addressed this.  I've never seen it.  It's 

bizarre. 

MR. JONES:  I haven't either.  That's why -- 

THE COURT:  It just seems to me that if you're not -- if you're not -- 

if a witness isn't identified, they can't testify.  Okay, fine.  So, when an expert's 

identified, and he's stricken because it's not expert testimony, but he has some 

interesting facts to relay, relevant facts, can he still do that?  That's the 

question.  Good luck writing a Westlaw query on that.  I don't know how 

you're going to find it. 

MR. JONES:  Your Honor, while I'm thinking about it, could we get 

-- maybe by Tuesday, can we get -- we're going to have the hearing on the jury 

issue.  Could we get by -- 

THE COURT:  On Wednesday? 

MR. JONES:  -- Noon by Tuesday, could you get us your 

opposition? 

MR. FREER:  The opposition?  Yeah. 

THE COURT:  Something -- if there's something out there that says, 

here's a matter of law -- 

MR. LeVEQUE:  By noon Tuesday?   

MR. FREER:  For the Wednesday hearing? 

THE COURT:  And we don't have time for them to respond in 

writing.          
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MR. JONES:  Thank you.  

THE COURT:  Unless you want to do close of business Monday, 

and they have until close of business Tuesday.  I just -- I mean I just don't 

know -- I'll be surprised if you can find anything.  It's such a -- it just isn't 

something that happens.  And it's -- I think if someone can -- 

MR. JONES:  So, he's stricken as an expert but -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MR. JONES:  -- there's a question in the Court's mind as to whether 

or not he would be appropriate as a fact? 

THE COURT:  He could still be allowed to testify as a fact witness. 

MR. JONES:  All right.  I understand.  And the parties will further 

brief the issue. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Rushforth is entirely different. 

MR. JONES:  I would --- well, I would think so, Your Honor, only 

because I've had -- I've actually tried this a time or two in my career, and I've 

never been successful with it.  Every opinion he has with I guess the exception 

of Opinion Number 5 that based upon the extrinsic of parol evidence, he can 

tell the Court what Mr. Schwartz's intent was, which I think I guess if that's the 

case, why would we need a jury or the Court depending on who it is.  

THE COURT:  Right.  So, again, the question of the report itself not 

coming in, you're moving to exclude in its entirety.  My question is, is there 

something he has that meets hallmark -- that he meets hallmark.  I don't know 

that we really need to discuss that issue. 

MR. JONES:  You know, well, first of all, that's an interesting 

question. 
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THE COURT:   But we've got to -- 

MR. JONES:  He's a lawyer, so presumably he could testify about 

legal issues -- 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. JONES:  -- and interpretation of documents. 

THE COURT:  Right.  Practicing -- 

MR. JONES:  I'm not going to dispute that. 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. JONES:  I've just never seen a court allow a lawyer to come in 

and tell the Court what the law was as an expert witness. 

THE COURT:  Right.  And then -- 

MR. JONES:  That's what they're trying to do.  I mean -- 

THE COURT:  Exactly.  And that's I think a distinction.  I agree and 

that's the way they said they were planning on presenting it was that Mr. 

Rushforth can testify about practices.  And that's why I was asking, I don't 

think that an estate planner wrote this will.  Am I remembering -- so I thought 

that Milton dictated it to Jonathan. 

MR. FREER:  The testimony -- this is my best recollection, but my 

understanding is that they got an exemplar -- kind of a template copy from an 

attorney.  Jonathan sat down and Milt -- with Milt, and they typed the -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MR. FREER:  -- typed the will.  Jonathan's an attorney. 

THE COURT:  Right.  He is, but I mean I think Mr. Rushforth, in 

distinction from being an attorney -- I mean I could sit down and write my own 

will.  But he's an estate planner.  He's got -- and above all these things, he's 
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written these -- it's different.  So, what he as an estate planner would do -- like 

that's what I was saying, I could not believe the Oshin -- the Oshin's Firm did 

not write that will.  It just doesn't look like a will that came out of the attorney's 

office that does this for a living.  It's very much a personal will.  He wrote it.  

He wrote it.  

MR. JONES:  And I believe you have seen a few wills in your time, 

Your Honor.   

THE COURT:  Yeah.  So, very clearly, he wrote this will.   

MR. JONES:  I don't know -- 

THE COURT:  So, I guess that's the problem that I had with 

Rushforth is that you can testify, and he does this all the time, I see him all the 

time in malpractice, this is not -- you know, if you're holding yourself out to be 

this, then this is not good practice.  That I have no problem with. 

MR. JONES:  I agree.  And certainly, in a malpractice case, there's a 

-- what the standard of care is, is a different issue.  He's testifying as to what 

the legal interpretation of -- well, his opinion is about the successor clause, 

interpretation of the legal term and supporting authority.  That's a legal 

conclusion to this Court.  That is your providence that you get to decide.  

The opinion of NRS 133.200, the anti-lapse statute.  That's your 

decision.  That's not an expert's opinion.  That is inappropriate regarding the 

ambiguity that exists in Milton I. Schwartz's intent of his bequest.  That's the 

ultimate issue of the case that is the matter of law by the Court, is the 

document ambiguous or not.  You decide that, not -- I can argue about it.  Mr. 

Freer can argue about it, but you decide that issue.   

And a lawyer coming in and adding on top of what Mr. Freer 
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argues about whether the will is ambiguous or not is -- then they get to double 

team me.  He gets another lawyer to get a shot at whether that lawyer thinks 

there's an ambiguity.  That's your decision to make. 

MR. FREER:  It's already three against two. 

THE COURT:  So, I guess just in looking through these, if we start 

the questions presented portion of the report, letter E, Questions Presented, 

and the first one being:  What is the purpose of a successor clause? 

MR. JONES:  Right. 

THE COURT:  What is the standard practice in the industry for 

including a successor clause?   So, it's two different things.  One is what is a 

successor clause.  I mean that's a matter of law.  That's not -- it's going to be -- 

if we need a jury instruction on that, it's written based on where the law is.  

But my question is where he's talking about the context of what is the 

standard of practice in the industry for -- again, this is the problem.  It wasn't 

an estate planner that wrote the will.  And so, I mean this is so personal to 

Milton, he wrote this himself, that I'm just not sure that the standard and 

practice in the industry is relevant to a question the jury would be considering.  

I mean because that's the hallmark issue.     

MR. JONES:  Your Honor, I think you make the point.  I don't know 

what else I could add to it.  If this is essentially -- and, again, whether Jonathan 

Schwartz is an attorney, he does not hold himself out as an estate planning 

attorney with a degree of skill and expertise of an attorney that practices in 

that area of the law.  I mean that's just -- there's no dispute about that. 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

MR. JONES:   So, what the standard and practice is in that 
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particular subspecialty of the law is irrelevant to the construction of this will, 

as you've already pointed out.  I don't know what else I need to say about that. 

THE COURT:  Yeah.  Okay.  Thanks. 

MR. FREER:  Your Honor, as we pointed out in our opposition, E-1, 

2, and 3 are the issues that we would concede are what his testimony is 

limited to.  With respect to explaining -- I mean he is an attorney, but we've got 

highly technical terms.  Having an attorney explain why these attorneys use 

the language, you know, and why they use successor clauses and what the 

standard practice is, I know Your Honor's already leaning the other way, but 

that's why we think that he would be able to assist the jury with respect to that 

issue. 

THE COURT:  All right.  With all due respect, I think that Mr. Jones 

has a point that E-1 is instructing the Court:  A successor clause is intended to 

provide one or more alternate beneficiaries when the bequest to a specific 

beneficiary fails.  Okay.  That I think -- that's just a question of law.  If a finder- 

of-fact needs to be instructed on what is the law, that, you know, looking at 

this will, ladies and gentlemen of the jury, there's no successor clause.  You 

are informed that a successor clause is the following.  And the question of the 

fact the jury has to make, or the finder-of-fact, is that if we don't see that 

language in here, then that's question number 1. 

Similarly, question number 3, E-3, that to me is -- that's the 

ultimate conclusion that whoever it is that is your trier-of-fact is going to make.  

My -- where I'm struggling with is E-2, this whole section about standard of 

practice, I mean why you would do it.  But the reason I got -- I mean if you 

were suing, like I said, you can't -- you know, I was like who wrote this.  This is 
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terrible.  But that's not what he's doing.  He's not saying that the person who 

wrote this made a mistake, and it's malpractice the way they did it, which is 

what I see Mr. Rushforth all the time on and, yes, he is very expert at that, and 

I don't deny that. 

But, again, here I'm just trying to see if there's -- I mean how is -- I 

understand that the kind -- he's just going to talk about standard and practice 

in the industry, but that's not how this will was drafted.  This was drafted -- I 

mean this was just a gentleman who was so intimately involved in his father's 

estate planning.  They worked on this together, and with Jonathan, he does 

not hold himself out.  I don't know -- I mean does he do legal work for the cab 

company, I don't know.  I just always thought he ran his dad's business, and 

he never held himself out to be a practicing lawyer, which is always the 

problem if you're giving legal advice, and you're not holding yourself out as -- 

I just struggle with this one. 

On the other hand, one can infer the testator really meant to say 

Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy or its successor in interest.  Well, how?  

How can you infer that? 

Pecuniary bequest Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy to an entity 

that did exist under that name creates an ambiguity.  I just -- I mean it's helpful 

in drafting jury instructions assuming this is an issue that can go to a jury, and 

I'm not sure it can. 

And this conclusion, D-1.  The testator, during his lifetime, declined 

to make gifts to the school even though it was the legal successor of the 

Hebrew Academy, because it no longer bore testator's name.  Do we have 

testimony about that? 
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MR. FREER:  Say that again, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Did anybody testify to that?  D-1.  Is that a known fact 

that Milton stopped making gifts to the school even though he -- it was a legal 

successor, because it no longer bore his name? 

MR. FREER:  Yeah, I believe Jonathan and Susan Pacheco testified 

as to that.   

MR. JONES:  So, that's testimony about fact that somebody told 

him.  That's not an expert opinion. 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

MR. JONES:  I mean, that's like an expert getting over there and 

saying it's a legal opinion -- an expert opinion about what somebody told him.  

I mean that -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah, I just -- I'm struggling with this as an expert.  

My conclusion.  My conclusion that the decedent's will was intended to gift the 

Hebrew -- Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew Academy only if the schools bore his 

name.  Unless the school bears the name indicated that, of course, fails 

because the pecuniary bequest -- I mean, this is the ultimate question that we 

started -- that we first were here talking about in 2013.  This is the very first 

question we had.  That's the whole issue in the case.  I don't -- you can't -- I 

don't think that's appropriate for expert testimony.  I just don't see how we can 

use this. 

MR. FREER:  Understood, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  I'm going to grant this motion to exclude him 

and unlike the previous one he -- that's his role.  And so, if he's excluded 

testifying to all that, then we're done.   
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Okay.  So, what do you want to take first?  Do you want to take this 

hearsay issues or do we want to go with these other two issues that I think are 

maybe -- well, I'm not going to jinx this.  I'm not going to say they're easier.  

Seven and eight, pre-admission of documents and instructing the jury on 

certain issues.   

MR. FREER:  I think seven, we -- after we got together and did the 

exhibits -- 

THE COURT:  Should we kind of agree on this? 

MR. FREER:  -- I think we're fine on seven. 

THE COURT:  Because I thought that that was the whole point of 

your 2.47? 

MR. FREER:  Yeah, we are now fine, so that's --  

THE COURT:  Did you agree on all of them?  The last will, the -- 

because clearly the will and the articles, those are public records.  I just didn't 

know what -- with respect to the -- you know, they're all authenticated.  What's 

your foundation to get them in?  Are we all in agreement on that?  We've got it 

worked out? 

MR. FREER:  Yeah, my understanding is they do have an issue -- 

I'm sorry, I didn't mean to overstep is -- 

MR. JONES:  No, go ahead.  Go ahead. 

MR. FREER:  -- is that I think they have an issue with the videotape 

of Milton Schwartz, that they were going to withdraw that request to have it 

pre-admitted, but everything -- the wills, and the pledge agreement, resolution, 

and the other four items in their motion we -- 

THE COURT:  Because we have -- 
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MR. FREER:  -- we have already agreed to. 

THE COURT:  -- certain things that are authenticated, no problem, 

the Court record and the public record.  They still have to have grounds to be 

admitted and somebody to testify.  I mean are we okay on those? 

MR. FREER:  I'll leave it to them.  I just didn't want to represent  

that -- 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. FREER:  -- everything was agreed to. 

MR. JONES:  Your Honor, and Mr. LeVeque was there and Mr. 

Carlson. 

MR. FREER:  So, the two people that don't know anything about  

it -- 

THE COURT:  Yeah, they're talking. 

MR. JONES:  No, I was there too, but I just want to make sure -- 

one of them correct me if I'm wrong.  We had some issues about the video 

interview -- 

THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

MR. JONES:  -- and when we were at the meet and confer, I believe 

the ultimate agreement was that the entire video could come in, but the partial 

transcripts -- actually, I'm kind of -- 

MR. LeVEQUE:  That's what I wanted, Randall, but you -- I think -- 

MR. JONES:  What did we sign? 

MR. LeVEQUE:  -- we talked about that, but you said you didn't 

want the video to come in, because you said that there was parts of the video 

that you would consider statements against interest, or party admissions, but 
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that we would stipulate to authenticity.  But if you want it the other way, I'm 

good with that.   

MR. CARLSON:  That sounds right to my recollection, was that we 

stip to authenticity. 

MR. JONES:  Oh, okay. 

THE COURT:  But not admissibility? 

MR. CARLSON:  Yes. 

THE COURT:  Somebody is still going to have to come in and -- 

MR. CARLSON:  I think so. 

MR. JONES:  That is -- Mr. LeVeque does remind me of the 

discussion.  

MR. LeVEQUE:  It was back and forth.   

MR. JONES:  There was too many things I've been trying to think 

about, Judge.  Basically, we're not going to object to the foundational issues -- 

authenticity and foundation.  There are parts of it we believe that are 

admissions against -- well, I'm sorry -- statements by a party-opponent that 

would be hearsay, and so we have hearsay objections to some of the 

statements of Mr. Schwartz.  Other statements of Mr. Schwartz we think come 

in under the exception to the hearsay rule as admissions against interest.   

So, the -- I guess we would say to the Court the agreement is 

there's a stipulation as to authenticity and foundation.  Is that right?  

Otherwise, I believe we have agreed to -- 

THE COURT:  The will? 

MR. JONES:  -- we've reached a stipulation as to the other 

documents. In fact, I think we have even more.  We have a joint exhibit list that 
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we've agreed to.   

THE COURT:  All right.  So, this is mooted.  It will be handled as 

part of the parties' stipulation based on the 2.47 meeting. 

MR. JONES:  Yes, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  So, that will be addressed.  It will instead be 

addressed by the parties' agreements on admissible evidence.  Okay.  Great.   

Pre-instructing the jury.  You know, we do have, under the general 

instruction portion of the new book, some these issues are addressed there.  

And we do read many of these things just -- you know, it's hard to believe, but, 

you know, when we pre-instruct the jury, we're reading.  It's not something 

I've got memorized.  There are some issues that the jury told. 

Once the jury is selected and the -- before they're seated, this -- I'll 

read you -- this is what I read.  We start with:  This is a civil case, but it's -- 

okay, I guess we can call it civil.  Trial is to proceed in the following order, and 

then after instructions it's just the procedure.  If I determine the facts, there's 

no way to correct your decision on the facts.  Sometimes, there's objections to 

the testimony -- and we do have in here, I think -- we can read -- I have the 

language.  For credibility or believability of a witness, we have language to 

read.  I typically don't, but depending on what the parties want, I typically 

don't read that one.   

The other things asked for here, I don't even know that there is a 

jury instruction on the definition of hearsay.  So, I didn't see how that could 

even be done.  The direct and circumstantial, and believability and credibility 

conceivably you can.  Burden of the proof is generally just dealt with, you 

know, usually during selection.  You tell them that -- you know, this is the party 
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that has the burden of proof.   

MR. JONES:  And it wouldn't be a limited -- one of the reasons we 

asked for that, Your Honor, it has come up at just about every trial I've had in 

the last ten or 15 years, because a lot of jurors -- and the Court sometimes 

even says it without us having to say anything.  The Court says:  A lot of you 

are familiar with -- you've heard about, you know, the criminal standard and 

this is not a criminal case and beyond a reasonable doubt.  This is a civil case, 

so it just -- the only reason -- 

THE COURT:  I usually go over that in jury selection. 

MR. JONES:  And if you do, that's the only point.  The reason we 

do this -- we ask for this is we think it actually benefits both sides, assuming 

we have a jury.  That there's a couple of basic things that kind of helps them 

up front understand when the lawyers get up to do opening statement, they 

have some context in which kind of to relate to this, like what is hearsay.   

And, again, this is just -- we're just offering this.   

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MR. JONES:  One of the elements of a contract, something -- you 

know, if didn't want to do it, I understand.  I'm just -- I think that sometimes it 

helps a jury have some context in which to understand the opening statement.  

It's not a huge issue.  I think it's helpful, but I leave it to the Court's discretion.  

It's whatever you think is best.   

THE COURT:  Okay.   

MR. FREER:  And we, just briefly, identify in our objection that it 

doesn't -- you know, and 16.090, basically provides unless there's a good 

reason to vary from the standard procedure, just stick with the standard 
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procedure.  We outlined some issues, especially with any kind of pre-

instruction relating to hearsay that it would be prejudicial because there's so 

many different avenues of where evidence is going to be admissible for -- 

THE COURT:  Right. 

MR. FREER:  -- limited purposes, et cetera.   

THE COURT:  So, with respect to this request, to the extent that 

typically during jury selection where we have people who have been on juries 

before, it comes up in that context, and often times counsel will ask do you 

understand that in the criminal case you had to look at a different standard of 

care -- standard of proof and this is not a criminal case, we just have to tip the 

scales a little bit.  I mean usually, that's how we see it.  I don't -- it's not really 

read as an instruction to them.  And I'm fine with that.   

The description of direct and circumstantial evidence, I can read it.  

I typically don't, but I could read it.  The believability or credibility is, again, 

something that I can read.  Usually -- I usually don't read it, but it certainly -- I 

don't think there's anything that says it's improper to.  It's just that I typically 

don't.   

The deposition of substantive evidence, you know, usually in the 

final instructions we have the standard pattern instruction.  I usually don't read 

that before, but as depositions are opened, and published, and as a -- and 

usually, we just tell them this is -- a lot of times you'll have people on the jury 

who have given depositions.  So, it's not something I really instruction them 

on, but just as depositions come in we talk about publishing the deposition, it 

doesn't mean it's, you know, a book.  It just means that it's going to be read to 

you here, you'll have a chance to hear what somebody said here, and this 
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testimony was taken under oath.  It's not really an instruction. 

 Hearsay, we never define hearsay for them.  That's strictly  

-- the judge rules on whether it is or isn't hearsay, and I've never seen an 

instruction -- a jury instruction on hearsay.  I don't even know how you would 

instruct a jury on hearsay.   

MR. JONES:  It -- 

MR. FREER:  Lawyers don't even understand it. 

MR. JONES:  -- yeah. 

THE COURT:  I was going to say -- I mean, that's like a whole thing 

on the bar exam, is this hearsay or is it not.  I mean, I do not think that 

instructing the jury on hearsay is appropriate.  My only question is, is there a 

strong objection -- as I said, I usually don't instruct the jury on who's got the 

burden of proof.  In my experience, it comes up.  And we deal with it in that 

fashion as opposed to an actual instruction.   

I do have language on these other couple of issues here, which is -- 

I do have credibility or believability.  We start out with:  You must not be 

influenced, by any degree, by any personal feeling of sympathy or prejudice 

for or against the Plaintiff, or for or against the Defendant.  Both sides are 

entitled to the same fair and impartial consideration.  The credibility and 

believability of a witness, essentially, is the instruction.  And there are two 

kinds of evidence, direct and circumstantial.  I typically don't read them.   

MR. JONES:  Your Honor, we don't need to belabor this.  Whatever 

you think is appropriate.  Again, I'll leave it to your sound discretion. 

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. JONES:  We -- I think to the extent you think it would be 
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helpful to do any of that, then we just brought it up to the Court --   

THE COURT:  Okay. 

MR. JONES:  -- and I leave it to you.   

THE COURT:  All right.  Yeah, I would not read the jury or pre-

instruct the jury on burden of proof.  I think that it's, in my experience, almost 

always thoroughly examined in the context of inquiring of jurors if they 

understand.  If the Court instructs you -- you know, if you've been on a jury, 

and it was criminal, it's not the same burden of proof, those kinds of things.  

And, also, not technically on the depositions.   

I can read the other two.  I mean I don't have any problem with it, 

direct and circumstantial evidence, and believability and credibility.  I don't 

have a problem with those.  I didn't say I do.  All right.  I guess, the -- all right.  

The concern I have is just whether you are -- as the concern is raised.  Placing 

greater emphasis on those preliminary instructions that happens actually in 

trial, and I am -- I am concerned about that as well.  Some of these things, I 

believe, just come up naturally in the course of selecting the jury, and it's not 

necessary to instruct them in the kind of detail that a jury instruction would 

provide.   

So, to the extent that burden of proof comes up during jury 

selection, I think that's entirely appropriate.  I have concerns about instructing 

people on the -- jurors on these other issues.  I don't typically do it.  So -- 

MR. JONES:  Fair, enough, Your Honor. 

THE COURT:  All right.  So, now we have this whole hearsay 

problem that is dealt with differently in probate to a certain extent and because 

we have this mish-mash of issues presented here, it's kind of a question of 
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context, it seems to me.   

MR. JONES:  Your Honor, I don't know how -- if you're -- we're 

going to get into that great detail.  If we are -- could we take a short break? 

THE COURT:  Sure.  Yeah, let's do that, because we're going to be 

here probably a little while after 5.  So, yes, let's take a break until 5.  Okay. 

MR. JONES:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

[Recess at 4:50 p.m., recommencing at 5:01 p.m.] 

THE BAILIFF:  All rise.  Department 26, back in session.   

THE COURT:  Okay.  We're ready to go back on the record.  

Counsel, are we ready to proceed, or do we have some other agreement? 

MR. JONES:  Well, I wish I had an agreement  we settled the case.   

THE COURT:  Yeah. 

MR. JONES:  Not that -- unfortunately, not that good of news. 

THE COURT:  Okay.  Great.   

MR. JONES:  Your Honor, I told counsel during the break that, 

unfortunately, for me, anyway, my wife had planned a dinner with some out-

of-town family members -- 

THE COURT:  Sure.  No problem. 

MR. JONES:  -- at 5:30. 

THE COURT:  Absolutely. 

MR. JONES:  But assuming that works for you, we could do this on 

Wednesday when we come over to argue -- 

THE COURT:  Yes, and do we have anything on Wednesday 

afternoon? 

MR. JONES:  We have three left, I think, is all we have left.  Four 
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has been withdrawn.   

THE COURT:  Oh, that's right one of them is withdrawn.  I totally 

forgot.   

MR. FREER:  Right. 

UNIDENTIFIED FEMALE:  Number four? 

MR. FREER:  So, it's just the hearsay stuff. 

THE COURT:  Yeah, number four is withdrawn.  So, we just have 

three, five, and six. 

MR. FREER:  So, on Wednesday we would come back with whether 

or not we can have Rabbi Wynne testify to hearsay stuff, and then the jury 

trial. 

THE COURT:  Because -- I'll tell you my -- I think it all comes down 

to the issue of prejudice.  I mean, this is just stuff that he's -- anecdotally he's 

reported that already, so I don't know how much of a surprise it could be.  

Anyway, I'm not going to say anything because there might be a case out 

there, I don't know.  I just haven't -- I've never seen it.   

[Court and Clerk confer] 

THE COURT:  Would you -- because we're on for 10:30 after 

guardianship.  So, would Wednesday -- would you prefer afternoon, because 

right now you're on at 10:30, and hopefully we can finish guardianship.  Our 

problem with guardianships, if we have to file everything physically in court it 

adds, like, ten minutes to every single one of those cases, because we have to 

physically file -- we're supposed to file it in the courtroom.  There's a reason 

nobody else has to do this.  It's really time consuming.  It's very time 

consuming.   
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MR. JONES:  I'm available in the afternoon -- 

THE COURT:  Pardon? 

MR. JONES:  -- if he Court wants to put it at 1:30, I don't know, if 

counsel? 

THE COURT:  Well, that may not be such a bad day.  I mean, we 

could probably -- we can -- it looks like we can probably do it 10:30, if you think 

that's enough time.  I mean we can work through lunch.   

MR. FREER:  We could try. 

MR. JONES:  We could try. 

THE COURT:  If we go a little bit into lunch, the that's -- I just 

wanted to offer you the alternative if you wanted to come afterwards. 

MR. JONES:  You know, because they're all related -- we filed it as 

separate motions, but they're really all totally interrelated.   

THE COURT:  They're really one, yeah.   

MR. JONES:  So, it's -- and then we'll have the issue of the jury. 

THE COURT:  Yeah, what we're going to do with the jury and -- 

MR. JONES:  I don't think -- probably that won't take too long 

either. 

THE COURT:  What are we going to do about a jury?  Do we really 

still need a jury.  And, number two, are we -- what are we going to do about 

the one witness.   

MR. JONES:  Okay. 

THE COURT:  That's it.  Okay.  Thank you, guys. 

MR. JONES:  Thank you, Your Honor. 

MR. FREER:  Thank you, Your Honor. 
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THE COURT:  Thanks for staying and helping me work through all 

this.  Good to have it all done in advance, right.   

[Proceedings concluded at 5:04 p.m.] 
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Las Vegas, Nevada, Wednesday, August 15, 2018 

 

[Case called at 11:21 a.m.] 

  THE COURT:  So we're going to go back on the record in 

P061300, The Estate of Milton Schwartz, specifically the Milton 

Schwartz -- Estate of Milton Schwartz versus the Adelson Education 

Campus.   

  MR. FREER:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Alan Freer on 

behalf of the estate.  Also joining me later, as soon as he finished an 

evidentiary hearing, will be Alex LeVeque.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you. 

  MR. JONES:  Morning, Your Honor.  Randall Jones and Josh 

Carlson on behalf of the Adelson Campus. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Thanks.   

  Okay.  So we have a couple of matters and then we have our 

pretrial conference, so before we start with the pretrial conference, we 

should probably talk about the first motion which is our motion to strike a 

jury demand and that was filed by the petitioner.   

  MR. JONES:  Yes, Your Honor.   

  Your Honor, our firm does not do and as you probably noticed 

because you are the probate judge, you don't see us in here very often 

on a probate matter so I am certainly admittedly not as familiar with 

probate matters as I am with civil jury case but it came to our attention 

when they filed a motion for -- and as you probably also recall, our firm 

came into this case more -- well more than a year into it, so jury demand 
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had been made we never even looked at it.  When there was a motion to 

have an advisory jury, one of my associates started looking at that issue 

and said wait a minute, this doesn't look like it would be appropriate to 

have a jury in the first place and looked into that further and we've 

determined that we believe that it is not appropriate to have a jury in this 

kind of a matter.   

  They have -- the estate has raised number of issues I guess 

the primary argument as I understand it is well this a breach of a 

contract case and you are entitled to a jury trial under a breach of 

contract case, but -- and I know that Mr. Freer's firm does handle 

probate matters all the time so I presume that he does know this that 

under NRS 155.150 if it is a matter outside a -- strictly a will contest, it is 

a matter that must be tried by the court.   

  In fact, in looking at jury instructions, trying to prepare jury 

instructions on a case like this, one of the points that was raised by one 

of my associates was wait a minute, everything we're looking at here 

and related to a case like this says the court shall decide, the court shall 

decide.  And so trying to even craft jury instructions in a case like this is  

-- I wouldn't even say difficult is -- is demonstrates the inappropriateness 

of having a jury under these circumstances.   

  Getting back to their point about well this is a breach of 

contract case, it's a breach of contract case based on a declaratory relief 

claim under NRS 30.010 and that provides that the matter shall proceed 

in the court in which the proceeding is pending and -- and in this case, 

we know that if it's a matter involving the estate other than a will contest, 
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it is decided by the court.   

  And if you look at their claim, it says breach of contract is the 

only argue -- claim that's left, a written breach of contract, essentially is 

the only affirmative claim that's left.  Milton's lifetime gifts and bequests 

are conditioned on the school bearing his name perpetually and 

performing under the alleged naming rights agreement.  The school 

breached the agreement.  As a result, the estate is not required to 

distribute the bequest and the estate is entitled to damages based on 

Milton Schwartz' lifetime gifts.  So in this case it's clear that it is a claim 

based on declaratory relief action for the estate, not a contest over the 

enforceability of a will.   

  And, Your Honor, one of the arguments they made is that 

we've got -- there's kind of a laches argument.  The problem with that is, 

is I analogize it to subject matter jurisdiction argument.  If there's no 

subject matter jurisdiction, it doesn't matter when you raise the issue.  

And here they're not entitled to a jury trial and they -- it would be, seems 

to me anyway, be plain error if we raised the issue or the Court could 

have raised the issue itself had the Court looked at this, and it also 

seemed to me last week when we were talking about this the Court 

seemed to question the -- raise the question itself as to is this actually 

kind of case that should be tried by a jury.   

  But I also, on this laches argument, would analogize it to a 

case that I had involving Jim Rhodes.  We had a claim against Jim 

Rhodes years ago and we were within weeks of trial.  We worked up the 

entire case, both sides.  We were within weeks of trial.  We had 
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demanded a jury trial and within a few weeks of going to trial, the 

Rhodes group raised the fact that there was an arbitration clause in the 

contract with the parties.  And the judge said well wait a minute, you got 

to go to arbitration.  We said no, that's crazy, they waived it.   

  Went to the Nevada Supreme Court.  The Nevada Supreme 

Court said no, there's an arbitration clause and doesn't matter when you 

invoked it, there's an arbitration clause and sent the case to arbitration.  

And we had prepared for a jury trial and were ready to proceed and our 

big argument was wait a minute, they have waived the right to a 

arbitration because they have sat on their hands and proceeded all the 

way down this road.   

  So, Your Honor, the only other point I guess I would raise is -- 

and this goes all the way back to a case in 1928 that we cited, 

Wainwright versus Bartlett.  In the absence of a statute providing for a 

jury trial, appropriate proceedings have always been heard by the court 

without intervention of a jury.  So this is -- you know, they -- because 

they've raised the issue of the constitution provides for jury trials, except 

-- and Rule 39 specifically says this:  When a jury demand has been 

filed, the case shall be tried by a jury unless, quote, the court, upon 

motion or of its own initiative, finds that a right of trial by jury of some or 

all of those issues does not exist under the constitution or statutes of the 

state.   

  As we've already indicated, 155.150 provides that the Court 

will try these issues and especially when you're looking at a claim by the 

estate brought pursuant to 30.010 which also specifically provides that it 
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would be -- the case would be tried in a manner dictated by the probate 

court which in this case is a case to the court as opposed to a jury.  And 

in short, Your Honor, we think it's plain error, having finally realized that 

this should never have been a jury demand in the first place, to allow 

this case to proceed with a jury under the circumstances. 

  THE COURT:  Okay, well, what about the point that Mr. Freer 

makes that I've already turned this down once, a request to strike the 

jury demand, and the -- they quote from the ruling that the question of 

fact -- because I agree with you.  A lot of this is not proper for a jury to 

determine and that's -- you know, we talked about that when we talked 

about what's the right kind of an expert that this jury could even hear 

from.   

  There are certain things that this jury really -- they can't make 

the decision.  They just can't.  But, you know, what was said -- and this 

may or may not be entirely true at this point:  The ultimate question of 

fact to be decided by the jury on the Adelson Campus's claim to compel 

distribution is whether decedent, Milton I. Schwartz, intended the 

$500,000 bequest identified in section 2.3 of his last will and testament 

to be made only to an entity named after him bearing the name Milton I. 

Schwartz Hebrew Academy, or whether said bequest was made to pay 

off the mortgage, or in the alternative for the education of Jewish 

children irrespective of the name of the educational institution.   

  So those kinds of questions of fact determined by a jury, but I 

think that probably ultimately the decision on what the -- the direction to 

the estate on what they have to do has to come from the Court --  
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  MR. JONES:  Well I guess --  

  THE COURT:  -- because I -- because I'm trying to -- I think -- 

what is a verdict that they can reach.  I don't think they can reach a 

verdict.  On will construction they can't.  But those questions --  

  MR. JONES:  Well those questions, Your Honor --  

  THE COURT:  -- largely advisory. 

  MR. JONES:  I'm sorry, say that again? 

  THE COURT:  I said largely advisory, but I do think they are 

questions that --  

  MR. JONES:  Well, but if they're -- 

  THE COURT:  -- you know, a jury can consider. 

  MR. JONES:  Well, I guess I would ask the Court what part 

would not be advisory?  I don't -- I -- that's where I don't see the 

distinction.  They -- it seems to me anyway, based on the statutes that 

are at issue in this case, there are -- as a matter of law, there are no 

issues that a jury can properly reach a verdict on under 155, 150 or 

30.010.   

  And even the points you raised as you acknowledged 

yourself, well, a jury could give an advisory opinion, but that's not a 

verdict.  An advisory opinion has no essential meaning, so we would 

essentially empanel a jury to give you an advisory opinion -- now the 

only time I've ever seen an advisory opinion be provided for is where 

there were other issues that the jury did have to decide.  And in fact, I 

had a case last December in front of Judge Denton where there was an 

issue there about an advisory jury, but in that case there was unquestion 
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issues that -- unquestionably there were issues that a jury had to decide.   

  So -- and that's where it's -- it makes some sense to me about 

an advisory jury, because then you've got a situation where the jury's 

finding facts on certain claims that it has a -- an obligation to find the 

facts on and the court says well, I'm going to let -- let's see what they 

have to say about these other issues that are really within the exclusive 

providence of the court; I may or may not agree with them about that, 

but I want to hear what they have to say.   

  This is a different situation.  And, Your Honor, if you can tell 

me, and I certainly would be interested to know because this is going to 

be critical to both sides, what issues would a jury reach a verdict on in 

this case that would not be advisory?  That's what I don't understand.  

And if there are none, then I don't see how as a matter of law they would 

be allowed to be an advisory jury.  There would be -- if that were the 

case, you could ask for an advisory jury in every case out there that was 

a bench trial, whether they were entitled to it or not. 

  So I would address your question if I -- if you can tell me, Your 

Honor, I'd be happy to address it, what issues you think a jury should 

decide ultimately in this case. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Okay, my next question then is on page 

5 of your brief, nice chart here, on the different issues that are pled in 

the response to the -- the estate's response to the petition.  Construction 

-- typo but construction of the will:  The bequest lapses because Milton 

Schwartz only intended the bequest to go to an entity named after him 

on a perpetual basis and no such entity exists.   
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  So that's sort of the -- what was said that Mr. Freer quoted -- 

quoted here, sort of what was said in his brief on page 3 that the 

question to be decided is about this -- since the request is to compel a 

distribution, is this issue does the bequest lapse seems to me to be a 

legal question that the Court would have to make the determination on.  

Although if the concept is that an advisory jury should really be the one 

to hear this evidence and come to the conclusion about this -- this is a 

30-year-long dispute.  And this is the third that I know of litigation.   

  This should be a surprise to no one and I -- this is why when 

Milton wrote his will, he could have been a little clearer because he had 

been disputing this for at that point 20 years.  That to me -- I can see 

how there's -- there's facts there that a jury listening to this, don't know 

any of these people, don't know anything about it, are going to sit there 

and say okay, let's hear this, what was -- what did Milton really intend.  

  And that's why I said with respect to our one expert, the rabbi, 

the reason he is significant is because he's the one person who talked to 

him at or about the same time he was writing his will.  And in that same 

time period Milton had this -- demonstrated to him a very clear intent, 

which was I'm going to leave bequests where my name will be 

recognized as being a person who cared about education in the Jewish 

religion.  And that's the testimony -- as I interpreted what the rabbi was 

saying, that's the testimony and that goes to this first issue which is what 

was Milton's intent.   

  So I thought well a jury could hear that.  They couldn't hear 

the whole rest of it about, you know, what's the religious law and what's 
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the -- you know, I'm not sure it's every Jewish person believes the same 

way but at least they did.  How you leave a physical -- physical evidence 

of your name as a last name legacy.  That's kind of what I took the rest 

of his opinion to be.  Not appropriate for a jury.  But there are certain 

very specific facts that a jury could listen to and say okay, how does that 

fit into this question of what was Milton intending when he wrote the will 

the way he wrote it?   

  Because that's what's really important here.  This wasn't 

something some attorney drafted up for him.  This was Milton writing 

this.  And so that's -- that's why it seemed to me that there are questions 

where, you know, you could put the common wisdom of our community 

to work on this and say, hmm, what did Milton mean?  None of us knew 

him.  I didn't know him.   

  So fraud I think you're right it's gone. 

  MR. JONES:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  And I think Jonathan has acknowledged that 

he felt that was -- that the misrepresentations were made to him.  And 

that's different.  So that's gone.   

  And then we have void, that the bequest is void because he 

had a belief and understanding.  Okay, it's not --  

  MR. JONES:  Your Honor, to me that's a strictly legal question 

as to whether or not -- 

  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

  MR. JONES:  -- what the words mean, and a jury cannot 

decide that issue.  I -- at least that's the way I always understood the 
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law.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  

  MR. JONES:  I don't know how in the world that a jury could 

decide what those words mean as a matter of law.   

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. JONES:  Whether there was a mistake as a matter of 

law. 

  THE COURT:  So this -- I guess what I'm saying is, is this 

really something where they really are asking for an advisory jury and it 

really should be bifurcated?  Because the advisory jury makes a 

determination on what -- factually what do they believe as a -- as a 

factual issue looking at all of this evidence, because there's a lot, what 

was Milton -- what was Milton's intent.  And then once they determine 

intent, they're done and it's really just a question at that point in time for 

the Court to interpret because I -- for example, Mr. Rushforth, not 

appropriate for a jury to hear.  That's all about will construction; that's all 

for the Court.  Doesn't mean he's wrong.   

  MR. JONES:  Sure, that --  

  THE COURT:  Doesn't mean he doesn't have a valuable 

opinion --  

  MR. JONES:  -- that's his opinion. 

  THE COURT:  -- that the Court could -- the Court could hear.   

  MR. JONES:  Well, here's I guess my point, Judge, even -- 

and with respect to this destruction of will, I -- and again, as lawyers, 

obviously we can potentially reasonably come to different conclusions, 
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but when I look at that, Jonathan Schwartz has testified under oath that 

the language of the will, the provision we're talking about, the bequest to 

the school is unambiguous.  So that's the petitioner has said that under 

oath that he believes that language is unambiguous.  And so the intent 

of the testator is based -- the person representing the estate and 

bringing the claim on behalf of the estate has taken a position that it is 

not ambiguous.   

  Whether it's ambiguous or not though is, I believe, an issue for 

the Court to decide.  The Court has to first decide that it is ambiguous 

and only if the Court decides if it's ambiguous does it become a question 

of fact as to what the intent was.  In which case extrinsic evidence is 

appropriate to be considered by the Court.   

  So -- and then it becomes a question of is that a will contest?  

Really?  Is it there's a bequest that's listed there and what does that 

bequest mean?  We think that is a issue for this Judge -- for this Court to 

decide.   

  But that said, clearly -- and the only thing that I understand is 

left of these issues here that are really kind of -- they're -- if you look at 

everything here, other than breach of contract, all the other five claims 

that are listed, they're all sort of different ways of saying the same thing. 

  Revocation of gift and constructive trust.  In other words, it 

was -- it wasn't intended to be given this way and therefore we should 

get it back and should be held in constructive trust.   

  Offset and bequest under will.  That's -- again, it's kind of this 

whole void by mistake argument or fraud in the inducement or 
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construction the will.  Those are all really different ways of saying the 

same thing that the will doesn't say what the school thinks it says and 

therefore the bequest shouldn't be provided.   

  The only one that's different is the breach of contract.  And as 

to the breach of contract, certainly -- based on the case law we've cited, 

certainly a jury cannot hear that claim.   

  So when you say it should be bifurcated, I guess again it begs 

the question to me, Your Honor, is what does the jury decide?  Even if 

it's -- you look at the first one, construction of will, do they decide it's 

ambiguous?  Because unless you've decided as a matter of law that it's 

ambiguous, there's nothing for the jury to hear factually.  And I would 

contend that it's all part of a challenge of -- with the estate, it's not a 

matter of the interpretation of -- or excuse me, a will.  It's a dispute with 

the estate as opposed to the interpretation of a will.   

  With that said, Your Honor, I don't know -- you know, I don't 

want to start repeating myself but -- 

  THE COURT:  Right.  Well, I guess the question is what -- are 

you contesting the validity of a will or is this just construction of a will?  

Because if the bequest to the school was obtained through this theory 

that there was some fraud or inducement somehow, some promise that 

yes your name's on here and it'll be in perpetuity, give us more money -- 

I mean kind of surprised they don't have a policy on this but, you know, 

whatever.  The -- conceivably that could be considered construing 

whether that bequest in the will was obtained through some sort of 

improper means which is what a will contest is all about.  You ended up 
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in grandpa's will because you promised to name your child after him and 

then you didn't.   

  So is that some sort of fraud somehow and such that you 

would have a will contest to say is that person properly in the will, is that 

school properly in the will?  Conceivably could be considered a will 

contest.   

  MR. JONES:  Well --  

  THE COURT:  Just trying to figure out how you get there -- 

  MR. JONES:  Well, that's the --  

  THE COURT:  -- and what's appropriate for the jury versus the 

Court. 

  MR. JONES:  That's the problem.  And think about the facts of 

this case and -- and I agree with you, we could come up with scenario 

like the one you just gave.  I told my grandfather that I'm going to name 

my first child after him and he specifically goes and changes his will in 

reliance upon that belief, and then I don't do it and the estate contests 

the bequest to me.  That's not -- there's no facts, no facts from any 

source that anybody even knew that Milton Schwartz was going to make 

his bequest on the basis of a fraud that they were going to bait and 

switch him here.   

  That -- and I understand that the rabbi may say well, yeah, he 

told me he was going to give that money because the school was 

named after him in perpetuity.  But there's no evidence that anybody at 

the school said well we're going to get him to do that and then when he  

-- as soon as he dies, we're going to change the name of the school on 
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him.  There just -- that evidence doesn't exist.   

  Even if you want to construe the facts most favorable to the 

estate, any way you look at it, you got to have some evidence at this 

point.  We're going to trial. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. JONES:  We're a week -- less than a week from trial.  So 

that will contest argument doesn't fit the reality of this case and therefore 

it doesn't apply, therefore there's nothing for a jury to legally decide in 

this case. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Thanks.   

  Mr. Freer.   

  MR. FREER:  Good morning, Your Honor.  Before I start, are 

there any questions you'd like me to respond to or should I just dive right 

in? 

  THE COURT:  Well one.  And that is, you know, the quote on 

page 3 of your brief where three years ago absolutely you are correct, I 

turned down a similar request to strike the jury request because this 

question of fact is, you know, what did Milton mean when he -- because 

he wrote it.  This isn't something some attorney tried to put into words 

Milton's wishes.  Milton wrote it.  

  MR. FREER:  Right. 

  THE COURT:  So that's really key to me and -- but when I got 

down to the ultimate question -- what I said -- I think I said it last week is 

ultimately this is about a will, it's -- whatever the contract is, the Milton 

may have thought agreement he had with the school, ultimately it's will 

002661

002661

00
26

61
002661



 

Page 16 

 
GAL FRIDAY REPORTING & TRANSCRIPTION 

10180 W. Altadena Drive, Casa Grande, AZ  85194     (623) 293-0249 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

construction and how can we leave that in the hands of the jury -- I 

mean so are we then only just having an advisory jury on that one 

issue? 

  MR. FREER:  Right.  So the answer is the law that we cited to 

the Court does allow -- there's no prohibition to having a jury decide any 

of these issues.  We'll start with that proposition.  And let me start with 

why, is he talks laches arguments, et cetera.  The difference here is 

we've got the 3300 Partners case that I cited, and I actually attached 

that as Exhibit 1, and that basically says that a district court can deny 

the motion to strike the jury demand on the basis of laches where 

inexcusable delay and -- causes prejudice to the others.  And so this 

Court doesn't even need to get to that part right now because of the 

delay.  The five-year delay we've had before even striking it, the Court 

doesn't have to even consider this motion.   

  In 3300 Partners, the inexcusable delay ranges from filing the 

motion to strike after the time the original jury would have occurred -- 

jury trial would have occurred to waiting as little as four months.  Here 

we've got the five-year period.   

  With the prejudice, again the courts talk about that, that we 

have trial preparation and where the court's invoked -- resolved several 

motions in limine, jury panel called, et cetera, et cetera, that's the 

prejudice.  So the Court doesn't even need to decide that under the 

3300 Partners.   

  Now, if your -- in terms of if Your Honor was looking at it as 

well what basis do we have to try this as a jury trial -- 
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  THE COURT:  Maybe this is a better way to phrase it.  

Thinking about two things, how we're going to -- as Mr. Jones 

mentioned, how we're going to write jury instructions for a jury to 

understand what they're supposed to be doing and then how are we 

going to give them a verdict form?  Because I don't see how they can 

reach the verdict of what Milton's intent means.   

  If they find Milton's intent was only to leave this money to a 

school named after him, doesn't the Court then have to say well what 

does that mean?  Because it's like Mr. Rushforth said, one -- is one 

opinion that that means it lapses and it goes into the residuary.  There 

are other options that Milton put into his will.  Somebody needs to make 

the determination as to whether that's really the route we need to go.  I 

mean that -- isn't that at that point the Court has to make that decision?  

Because I don't see how the jury can say this means that as a matter of  

-- as a matter of law because that's -- and then they're making a 

decision as a matter of law that what that -- what that intent means to 

the outcome of where does the $500,000 go?   

  MR. FREER:  So with respect to that, we cited some cases 

that basically say even where there is equitable relief, because this 

would be an equitable issue for the Court to determine, a jury still can 

determine those issues, and that's the federal circuit cases that we cited. 

  Now, the issue with responding to your question is what kind 

of -- how would we have a jury to determine that.  Well, it's basically two 

questions that the jury would answer is what was Milton's intent with 

respect to this clause?  Did he intend to leave it only to a school -- I think 
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Your Honor actually outlined that part of the question that we'd submit to 

the jury in the order -- in the language of the order you cited.   

  And then the answer after that is basically if the answer is yes 

that's what they intended or, you know, Milton only intended this to go to 

a school that bore his name, the second question is, is there a school 

that bears his name?  No.  What is the verdict then?  It lapses.  It's a -- 

it's yes or no in terms of whether or not it operates. 

  So in terms of the jury question, you know, it would be 

basically a three part thing.  I mean because -- actually would be two 

parts.  What was -- was Milton's intent only to leave it to a school to his 

name, is there a school to his name?  If the answer is yes that he 

intended to leave to the school in his name and there was no school in 

his name, then this Court -- this jury will render a verdict that the gift 

lapses.   

  THE COURT:  And then what?  By operation of law --  

  MR. FREER:  Well, a lapsed gift just means that under the 

Nevada Supreme Court and that's -- this goes back to stuff we cited in 

2014.  But where a gift lapses, it's just property of the estate; it goes to 

the residuary.  The jury doesn't need to decide that.  It's just an asset of 

the estate at that point.  All they're deciding is whether -- what is the 

operational effect of that bequest.   

  THE COURT:  Is the question too narrow though because the 

-- because what we -- talking about this, the $500,000 bequest made 

only to an entity named after him and bearing his name, or whether said 

bequest was made to pay off the mortgage and this is where I'm kind of 
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-- like I think this is kind of going beyond what a jury can really do.  Or, 

the other alternative, for education of Jewish children irrespective of the 

name and the educational --  

  MR. FREER:  With all -- yeah, with all due respect -- 

  THE COURT:  -- institution. 

  MR. FREER:  -- I think it's muddling conceptions under 2.3.  

It's I Milton Schwartz hereby give to the Milton I. Schwartz Hebrew 

Academy $500,000.  This money shall be used either for Jewish 

education or to pay off -- you know, pay off the loan or -- so the clause of 

how the money is used once the school receives it is different than 

whether or not the school exists.  They don't need to make that 

secondary determination.  That's just a restriction on the use of funds if 

the bequest is valid.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.   

  MR. FREER:  So -- and then, you know, the one thing that the 

-- that Mr. Jones omitted in presenting -- the other issue we raised is an 

implied consent under Rule 39(c).  And that's where we cite Second 

Circuit, Seventh Circuit cases and a Northern District California case.  

Basically that rule -- or those line of cases basically say that in addition 

to laches, that if a party refuses or fails to object timely, then it is -- then 

39(c) operates as a consent to a nonadvisory jury trial.   

  And that's exactly what we've got here.  I mean we have order 

after order setting a jury trial.  They -- they're preparing motions in 

limine.  They're actively prosecuting and preparing for trial as if this were 

a jury trial.  And courts are saying that constitutes the implied consent to 
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have a matter tried to a nonadvisory jury trial. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  As time has gone on and we have 

narrowed our issues, I guess my question is again, what are we 

instructing this jury on?  I mean aren't we asking this jury to make legal 

determinations that are beyond just questions of fact?  Here's -- we're 

going to -- how are we going to instruct the jury on the law?  That -- is it 

your proposal that jury instructions can be written that don't try to teach 

the jury probate but simply say if you make this factual determination, 

here's the law that will govern --  

  MR. FREER:  Absolutely, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  -- the outcome?   

  MR. FREER:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  Okay, is that proper for a jury? 

  MR. FREER:  If they stipulate to it under 39(c).  There is no -- 

there's no prohibition.  I mean -- and this gets back to -- there's one 

other case -- you know, obviously they've had five years to draft this 

motion, I had 48 hours to respond. 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. FREER:  So there's one other case I came across, 

there's Adams versus Fallon Drilling (phonetic), and the crux of this that 

the Court should really look at is what is the prejudice going on here.  I 

mean this is essentially an ambush, pulling the rug out on us two days 

before we're starting trial in terms of our preparation, what we've done 

with respect to jury notebooks, et cetera.  And to just kind of say oh, let's 

not have a jury trial, well that's what they tried in the Adams case, and 
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that's at 1998 Westlaw 195981, and the court denied the motion to strike 

a jury trial at the last meeting saying it was tantamount to an ambush 

and due to the last minute and it prejudiced the other side.  So we've got 

these other issues, you know, with respect to our prejudice.   

  Now, let's get to the jury trial -- I mean the contract issue is we 

outlined that there is a constitutional right to a jury trial with respect to 

the breach of contract.  The 155.150 does not affect the issue with 

respect to the contract and the -- here's the reason why.  If you look at it, 

it stands for the proposition that if a claim or cause of action arises under 

the probate code, and that's used by the words in matters of an estate, 

the issue with respect to the contract is not a matter of the estate.  

Matters of the estate are typically accounting issues, anything that you 

find under Title 12.  Those Title 12 specific causes of action are matters 

of an estate.   

  And that goes into if you look at -- and we cited this in our 

brief.  If you in and look at the case that they cited, it really talks about 

why that is.  It's because under common law, there was no probate.  

You didn't have a right to give property in probate.  It was all statutory 

based.  And so since there did not exist a jury trial right under common 

law, that's why that statute was put in place.   

  But that doesn't prevent a -- that statute doesn't and can't 

prevent any type of constitutional jury trial right as to a breach of 

contract.  It simply can't.  And the way the probate code gets around 

that, because obviously we don't want the probate code to violate the 

constitution, is it gets around it in 155.180.  That expressly allows the 
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rules of civil procedure to apply when they're not specifically prohibited.  

  And so if you take 155.180, Rule -- NRCP 38, 39 and 57, then 

that allows the jury trial here.  There isn't anything in 155.150 that says 

under no circumstance can any jury trial not apply except for will contest 

and we aren't allowing any other statute or any other code of civil 

procedure to provide for it.  It just sets the baseline.   

  And the issue with NRS 30.110 is all that does is operate to 

guarantee that if a jury trial is available as a matter of right, that just 

because you do it in a declaratory relief context, you don't lose that 

declaratory relief context.   

  I see Your Honor's looking at something.  Do you have a 

question for me? 

  THE COURT:  Yeah, looking at the -- we really just have like 

two cases decided on this.  One of them is Wainwright and the other 

one's Peterson I think.  And they speak and -- in one they do allow a jury 

trial, in the other they don't.  And in Wainwright the court talks about how 

probate is not really a common law concept, it's --  

  MR. FREER:  It's statutory. 

  THE COURT:  -- it's statutory and was -- before it was heard 

by the courts, it was heard by the ecclesiastical courts. 

  MR. FREER:  Right. 

  THE COURT:  And so they view it differently and talk about 

that for the -- a trial of issues of fact as in common law action is argued 

that this term must be taken to mean in the sense of an action common 

law to which a jury has always been allowed as a matter of right.  So this 
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is your contract theory that -- 

  MR. FREER:  Correct.  

  THE COURT:  -- even though it's muddled with these probate 

issues, you've got some true common law causes of action that are 

always going to be -- be right to a jury. 

  MR. FREER:  Correct.  

  THE COURT:  But we've never had declaratory relief be 

subject to a jury.  You can't ask a jury to rule on declaratory relief.  I 

don't see how you possibly could.   

  MR. FREER:  Well if you look at --  

  THE COURT:  So are we really talking about bifurcating a 

trial?   

  MR. FREER:  If you look at Rule 57, that does expressly 

permits (sic) a right to jury trial in declaratory relief actions.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. FREER:  And what we're asking the -- what we're asking 

the jury to do is make these factual determinations.   

  THE COURT:  Okay, but ultimately no because I -- I get the 

idea that the jury may be the ideal way to put these issues to the test of, 

you know, what was Milton's intent, what did he -- what rights did he 

think he had, what was he trying to achieve.  I -- you know, those kinds 

of factual things that motivate somebody in making their testamentary 

distributions, but I -- I'm just struggling as we get closer to this and trying 

to think how are you going to instruct a jury as to what -- okay, you've 

made a factual determination.  Now how does that apply in this 
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circumstance to this document that will result in what outcome for this 

will?  Because to me it doesn't seem that it is entirely -- once you get 

past these factual determinations, it's a question of what law you apply 

and so for me it seems that what we're going to be doing is determining 

most of this in argument over jury instructions because I don't see how 

else you can get there.   

  You're going to have to have -- and I don't see that there's any 

clearly defined statement of law unless we really do put Mr. Rushforth 

up on the stand and really do have him try to teach this jury probate law.  

And just reading his opinion, I -- you can't instruct a jury on this.  This is 

the law.  It's up to a judge to try to make the decision is Mr. Rushforth's 

opinion correct.  As a matter of law, is that what the result is, or is there 

some other result that they may want -- I mean I'm just not 

understanding how we can get the jury to make that determination.  I 

understand and -- but I think that then we're just asking for an advisory 

jury.   

  The basic -- the trigger question is what was Milton trying to 

do when he -- when he wrote this will, what was he intending this 

bequest would achieve?  To me those are your jury questions.  I 

understand -- 

  MR. FREER:  What was --  

  THE COURT:  -- or they're appropriate for a jury, they're 

entirely appropriate for a jury, but I -- that's the next step that I have 

when thinking about this -- the three alternatives that were stated here 

as to giving a jury a question of fact, yeah, a jury would appropriately -- 
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entirely appropriate to say what was his intention on this bequest or was 

he -- just mean I'm giving you $500,000 and I want you to pay off the 

mortgage with it?  Was that the intent of that bequest?  How did he 

mean to write that?  I mean it's -- is it a question of placement of a 

comma or what?  Like you said, what should be done with it, the 

direction to what was to be done with the $500,000 should it go to this 

entity. 

  MR. FREER:  And I don't think the jury needs to determine 

that at all.  The jury needs to determine did Milton intend this only to go 

to a school bearing his name?  Is there a school bearing his name?  And 

then if the -- the law is very clear.  If the answer to those two questions 

are no, then the gift fails.   

  THE COURT:  Right, but does the jury say that or does that 

then come to the Court to say now what, Judge?  We've established that 

as a matter of fact that this is Milton's intent.  Now as a matter of 

construction of the will, what's the outcome of this question of intent?   

Because the question of intent is just the step -- is just step one.  We still 

have to work our way through as -- as Mr. Rushforth did, his whole 

analysis.   

  I'm not saying I agree with him or disagree with him.  I'm just 

saying he had a whole analysis that's a legal analysis.  It really wasn't 

conditioned on any kind of fact that a jury could determine.  It was the 

process of what's the outcome of this factual finding, what does that 

mean -- what will that mean in interpreting what -- what's the effect of 

this will?  Does the whole thing -- does it just go to the residuary, does it 
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-- or does it go some other way?  Was -- this was really the goal to have 

something out there, whatever it was, I give you options, have -- you can 

give it to educational scholarships, you can pay off the mortgage --  

  MR. FREER:  If the gift fails, that's the end of the jury's 

determination with respect to this trial because then we're back into 

probate administration.  They're no longer an interested party once they 

determine whether or not the jury (sic) fails.  Then it's incumbent upon 

the petitioner to come back before the Court and petition for the 

distribution of that funds as we do under normal probate.  But with 

respect to that, I mean it's basically --  

  THE COURT:  But so that's my question --  

  MR. FREER:  It's down to determining whether or not they're 

an interested party and whether or not they breached a contract. 

  THE COURT:  How far can you ask a jury to go though?  

What's the extreme question you can ask a jury?  And that's where I just 

thought we were probably getting too far into probate law that you won't 

be -- I don't understand how you can educate a jury in jury instructions 

as to if you find this, then this is what's going to happen.  I mean that's 

not a -- it's not a jury instruction.  That's me directing the jury that if you 

find this, it's going to lapse and it's just a lapsed gift and then probate 

law just takes over and we're done.  So -- 

  MR. FREER:  Well they're petitioning to move for the 

distribution.   

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. FREER:  And so the question is, if you want to break it 
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down to three questions:  Is there an entity named the Milton I. Schwartz 

Hebrew Academy in existence today? 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. FREER:  Did Milton intend to give it only to Milton I. 

Schwartz Hebrew Academy?  If the answer to those two questions are 

no, then you will deny their petition.  I think it's as simple as that --  

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. FREER:  -- with respect to that.   

  THE COURT:  All right.  Thanks.   

  MR. FREER:  And then I guess the one last thing you -- you 

touched on the issue of bifurcation.  I mean the issue and the problem 

that we've got with bifurcation here is we've got -- the issues with the 

contract claim and the gift and the estoppel issues, they're all very 

inextricably intertwined.  And so if we have to end up bifurcating 

something to that effect, you know, with respect to how they're 

interrelated, we're going to be calling witnesses twice and that's just not 

judicial economy.   

  What needs to happen is it needs to be tried.  If this Court -- I 

mean and this is what I put in my conclusion is if the Court disagrees 

with our position that it's appropriate for a jury to try everything and you 

say no jury trial, jury trial doesn't happen, we've got a right to appeal, 

then we're back here retrying the case.  If the Court grants the jury trial 

and we're wrong and we're not entitled to a jury on all issues, the worst 

that can happen is that it's an advisory opinion and we're not back trying 

this issue again. 
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  THE COURT:  But I'm not sure if I --  

  MR. FREER:  It's not reversible error to have a jury determine 

the issues because they will have made the findings of fact.  And you 

can -- if you always -- you can always render your own opinions at the 

end.  We go up to appeal with respect to that and if we're entitled to a 

jury verdict, there we've got the jury trial.  If they're entitled to an 

advisory opinion and your opinion based on that, then we're not here 

trying this case twice. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  And just one thing procedural with 

respect to bifurcating, does bifurcating always mean we have to have 

two completely separate trials or does it mean that we have the 

testimony, the jury is just not instructed to make decisions on certain 

things that we've all heard in the trial?  They just aren't instructed on it 

and they're instructed this is the very narrow issue you're here to 

determine, you determine your issue, period, that's the end of the story.   

  Because what would they be hearing that would somehow 

alter a decision on -- like I said, this basic issue of intent.  I understand 

how intent is -- it's certainly something a jury can determine, absolutely.  

So -- 

  MR. FREER:  Jury can determine intent whether or not there 

was a breach to the agreement.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Thanks.   

  MR. JONES:  Well, Your Honor, first of all, I mean as you said 

last week, this is a probate matter and -- and this whole issue that's 

about what Milton's intent was, at least as I understand the law, that's 
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not really the proper question.  The real question is what do the words in 

the will mean?  And the Court has to determine that first, so unless you 

determine as a matter of law that they're ambiguous, there's no question 

that even comes out about the intent so the jury would never even get to 

that issue.   

  We know the petitioner has testified under oath that the words 

are not ambiguous.  So this whole question of a jury deciding what the -- 

  THE COURT:  Actually he's the -- you're the petitioner so -- 

  MR. JONES:  Well they're petitioner on their claims -- 

  THE COURT:  Oh, on their claims.  Okay.   

  MR. JONES:  -- on the other side.   

  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

  MR. JONES:  So the -- and I -- by the petitioner I meant 

Jonathan Schwartz as -- 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. JONES:  -- petitioner in his claim trying to deny the 

bequest.  Yet he said that these words are not ambiguous so I guess I'm 

confused.  If the other side says the words are not ambiguous and the 

Court has to determine whether the words are ambiguous as a matter of 

law, then why would the jury ever even have to decide what the intent 

was?   

  It's until the Court decides -- at least until the Court decides as 

a matter of law that the words are ambiguous and I don't think the 

Court's ever done that yet.  At least I've never seen a rule and so -- so 

essentially they're asking -- and by the way, I totally disagree with the 
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idea that it's not reversible error to have a jury when you're not entitled 

to a jury.   

  You went back and looked at, as you mentioned, the 

Wainwright case.  He's asking the Court to do something that the 

Nevada -- well, Nevada has never done.  So to suggest that somehow 

or other you're entitled to a jury trial when the law says otherwise, I think 

that is reversible error. 

  And I can tell you, Your Honor, if there is a jury trial and the 

result is we believe to be in error, we will absolutely appeal on that 

ground and we -- presumably if we're found to be right -- and by the 

way, the case law that's out there right now in Nevada says they don't 

get a jury trial for this.  Especially in -- and, you know -- and I guess it 

begs the question are they saying that this aspect of the case is a will 

contest?  And I don't know if that's the way the Court is interpreting it 

that the interpretation of the Milton Schwartz intent is a contest over the 

terms of the will and the bequest.  Is that the Court's position here on 

this issue? 

  THE COURT:  That's what I understood when it first came 

over here years ago was they were viewing this question of was this 

provision in the will based on some sort of -- for some improper  

reason -- 

  MR. JONES:  Right. 

  THE COURT:  -- that would make it a void bequest, that that 

kind of question is a -- essentially a will contest that, you know, the 

statute talks about lack of capacity, fraud, those kinds of things, that 
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essentially that's what it was because Milton was induced somehow to 

leave money to the school with the understanding it would maintain his 

name on it and when that entity no longer exists, then, you know, what 

does that mean -- that's the second part of it is --  

  MR. JONES:  So in other words, you understand this case 

and it seems like they're arguing that this is -- this aspect of the case at 

least is a will contest that deserves attorney -- a jury, excuse me.   

  Well if that's the case, Your Honor, then this claim is 

absolutely unequivocally time barred.  They failed to bring a claim based 

upon a contest of the will within the statutory time period.  That is done.  

So if -- they can't have their cake and eat it too.  They can't come in here 

and say well this aspect's a will contest and somehow or other that 

bootstraps us around the statute of limitations.  That's an issue that's 

been decided.  There's no way around, period, end of story.   

  So if that's the way they're going which it -- and I don't know 

how they get around it because that's the only loophole they have.  They 

have to make it a will contest in order to make it a jury trial.  I -- and I 

agree for all the reasons you've already articulated that it wouldn't be an 

appropriate jury trial because you don't -- you can't get to the ultimate 

question, and in spite of Mr. Freer saying well yeah, then you just say 

well we win and you don't get the money, but you still got to go through 

the process of will contest which is time barred and they don't address 

that.  That is fundamental.  So that should be the end of the inquiry right 

there.   

  And with respect to this whole issue of laches, you brought up 
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and they point out themselves that this was a -- there was a motion 

before our time.  I remember that because we weren't involved in it, a 

motion to strike the jury prior -- previously.  Well then how can they say 

that we sat on -- the school sat on its hands on moving to strike the jury?  

You denied that.  You certainly didn't deny it, as I understand it, with 

prejudice.   

  So there can be no argument whatsoever that there was a 

laches argument here.  We waited till the discovery was done, we got 

down to the final point to trial and that is -- the points that Mr. Freer 

made is almost identical to the arguments we made in the Rhodes case.  

That case had been re-set as a jury trial umpteen times which we 

argued to the court showed that they waived it and the supreme court 

said doesn't matter, you don't have a right to a jury trial.   

  There is case law and the rule itself that specifically say, you 

know, that -- Mr. Freer tries to argue that they have a right to a jury trial.  

Rule 39 says right on its face unless the court, upon motion of its own 

initiative, finds that a right of a jury by -- or a trial by jury of some or all 

those issues does not exist under the constitution or the statutes of the 

state.  The statutes say you're not entitled to a jury trial on these issues.   

  And by the way, they could have filed -- and you said, Your 

Honor, that they got these -- well Mr. Freer brought it up and then yeah, 

there are these breach of contract claims.  They decided to bring the 

breach of contract claims under NRS 30.010.  So it's not a pure breach 

of contract claim per se.  It's a dec relief claim that says there was -- I 

want the court to declare there's been a breach of contract.   
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  That statute says you have to try the case pursuant to the 

court in which it would probably be pending which is uncontestable that 

it's the probate court which says if it's in the probate court, you only get a 

jury trial if it's a will contest.  If it's a will contest, it's time barred.   

  I -- any way you want to look at it, Judge, they don't get a jury, 

advisory or not.  Unless you have any other questions --  

  THE COURT:  Trying to remember -- 

  MR. FREER:  There --  

  THE COURT:  -- Howard -- the Howard Hughes case.  Did 

they have a jury?  I don't remember now.  I know it was --  

  MR. JONES:  I don't remember --  

  MR. FREER:  There were numerous --  

  THE COURT:  There's so many cases --  

  MR. FREER:  -- cases involving the Howard Hughes -- 

  THE COURT:  Keith Hayes, you know, was the -- the big one, 

the one -- Dummar. 

  MR. JONES:  Yeah, the -- I know that Joe Foley, my brother 

Mark's former partner was -- represented the Hughes estate in that -- 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. JONES:  -- and I -- but that was a will contest.  That was  

-- that was a jury trial I believe because I think I remember -- 

  THE COURT:  I'm trying to think what it was. 

  MR. JONES:  -- Mr. Foley had in his office a note from the jury 

or something, this is not my will written a bunch of different times the 

way that was supposedly his handwriting.  But that was strictly -- that 
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was a will contest.  Whether or not Dumont (sic) was a beneficiary under 

the will and he -- the estate contested well that he was a beneficiary. 

  THE COURT:  Beneficiary.  Uh-huh.  Because I'm trying to 

think, you know, what the will was because it was about whether that 

was even -- I thought it was about whether that was even a properly -- 

  MR. JONES:  It was.  It was --  

  THE COURT:  -- Howard Hughes's will.  It was -- 

  MR. JONES:  Remember it was a holographic will --  

  THE COURT:  It was a fake will. 

  MR. JONES:  -- that he supposedly wrote out in the desert or 

something because --  

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. JONES:  -- Dumont or whatever what his name was 

picked him up --  

  THE COURT:  Melvin Dummar.   

  MR. JONES:  Dummar.  Thank you.  So yeah, that was the -- 

whether or not that was a valid will itself, the document.   

  This is a different issue, Judge.  This is an issue between the 

estate and the school fashioned as the remaining claim is, the remaining 

claim as of last Thursday is whether or not they have properly pled a 

declaratory relief action that the Court declared that there was a breach 

of contract.  That is -- they are not entitled to, as a matter of law, a jury 

trial on that claim.   

  With respect to the issue of the bequest, if the Court construes 

that as a will contest, then I will renew our motion for summary judgment 
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based upon the statute of limitations. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So the other four causes of 

action, the void by for mistake, offset -- I mean I think an offset would 

always be a question for the Court.  The jury makes a finding this is how 

much it is, the Court determines if there is an offset.  And then 

revocation and constructive trust.   

  MR. JONES:  Right.  Well the -- again, that -- 

  THE COURT:  Well why -- what's your argument that those 

causes of action have been abandoned or they no longer exist or? 

  MR. JONES:  Well, if you want -- I guess -- the lifetime gifts 

and the bequests were conditioned upon the school bearing his name in 

perpetuity.  Fraudulently induced his belief and then failed to comply 

with these conditions.  This is their -- this is quoting their language.  

Thus the estate is entitled to recover all funds, so it's all -- it's essentially 

a fraudulent inducement claim which you ruled as a matter of law last 

week is barred by the statute of limitations.  So that claim doesn't exist -- 

  THE COURT:  No, I don't think the grounds for fraud -- I think 

that fraud was just the fraud would have been as to Milton and the way 

they presented it, the fraud was as to Jonathan; that Jonathan had been 

misled --  

  MR. JONES:  Right. 

  THE COURT:  -- by this drag -- dragging out of the settlement 

process I thought -- 

  MR. JONES:  So you mean in terms of the revocation of the 

gift.  Well then isn't that a -- essentially a will contest?  Doesn't that get 
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us right back to where we were before in construction of the will?  It's a 

will contest says what does the will mean?  And whether or not that 

bequest should be paid or not.   

  THE COURT:  Yeah.  Okay.   

  I want to ask, Mr. Freer, I -- because your pretrial memo, since 

we need to be talking about pretrial memos, mentioned four of the 

causes of action as still surviving and -- one of those being fraud and 

maybe I'm not remembering --  

  MR. FREER:  That was done before the motions in limine -- 

  THE COURT:  Yeah.  And that's why I think as I'm 

remembering there really are three issues I think is your position that 

remain, not just the one.   

  MR. FREER:  Yeah, the only one we abandoned was the 

fraud claim.  Just real briefly, Your Honor, with respect to the argument 

about -- 

  MR. JONES:  Well, Your Honor, I'm going to object unless -- 

  THE COURT:  You'll get an opportunity to wrap up so -- 

  MR. JONES:  All right, fine, if I -- as long as I get --  

  THE COURT:  -- I mean we're -- we've talked about this about 

long enough so we'll give Mr. Jones a final word.   

  MR. FREER:  I just want to clear up the record a little bit real 

quickly. 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. FREER:  And obviously Mr. Jones hasn't been living this 

like we have.  With respect to the ambiguity argument, that was the 
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subject of the 2014 and 2015 motions for summary judgment.  We went 

ad nauseam -- our position was back then in our moving papers that 

there was no ambiguity because if you have a strict reading of that, it 

lapses.  And the only -- without ambiguity, the only result of that is the 

gift lapses, it becomes property of the estate.   

  Your Honor disagreed with us and that's what ended up with 

that finding that you chose, so the fact -- I mean Your Honor already 

implicitly made -- by refusing to grant our argument and making that 

finding, Your Honor already implicitly found that there's ambiguity with 

respect to section 2.3.   

  With respect to the will contest, again that was previously 

litigated way back when as well and we cited a bunch of cases saying 

when you're trying to revoke -- offset a will or even revoke a bequest on 

the basis of mistake, that that is not will contest, that's will construction.  

We're not running away from that.   

  And then the issue when Your Honor was looking at the last -- 

the causes of action five and -- you know, cause of action number 6 

primarily is remedies.  We pled it as a cause of action just to avoid 

anybody coming in and saying you never pled it, but I mean if you look 

at it, constructive trust, it's a remedy.   

  Your Honor have any other questions for me? 

  THE COURT:  Yeah.  It seems to me and this seems to be 

what they're saying if I'm reading this one right.  I think it's the Peterson 

case where they talk about the overlap that they may -- not all of these 

issues may necessarily be proper jury questions and I guess so that's 
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my problem here is that in looking at these causes of action -- I will tell 

you that yes, I have always thought that -- I know there's been litigation 

over this for 30 years.  I don't know what it's about.  I don't know what 

the outcome of any of those prior cases was.  I don't know why we got to 

this point.  I don't know anything about it.  I just know this has been a 

fight for 30 years.   

  So to me, yeah, it's ambiguous.  I -- what does he mean?  He 

knew that he'd been fighting over this for years and years and years.  

What does it mean when he writes his will this way?  Have to hear 

everything you can hear which is why I said I think that the rabbi is 

relevant because at the time he was writing this, near there, he was 

having conversations about giving or leaving money to somebody else.   

  So that all goes into this whole idea of what was his intent.  To 

me that seems an appropriate question for a jury, but my problem is with 

what they -- what the jury can decide once they decide that.  I mean how 

much of this can they decide.  I -- these other causes of action seem to 

be somewhat difficult for a jury to address.  I think the jury could 

probably address the question of was there a contract and was it 

breached.  They can determine those, but it still seems to me that at 

some point, whatever their factual findings are, and this is where I'm 

kind of getting to I just -- I'm not sure how a jury can ever reach the 

ultimate question under any of these theories.  It seems that it all has to 

come back to the Court to say so what's the effect of that as a will 

construction question.   

  You said you're not running away from that.  Ultimately you 
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have to -- somebody's got to construe this will and that's where I'm just 

not sure that's appropriate for the jury.   

  MR. FREER:  And I guess I would rely back on the Court's 

prior finding the issue for the jury to determine is what did Milton mean 

when he put -- when he basically said what he said in his will.   

  THE COURT:  Right, but that's not the end of the inquiry. 

  MR. FREER:  And so I mean I would like it --  

  THE COURT:  That's the problem. 

  MR. FREER:  -- to where you've got a breach of contract case 

and you've got multiple remedies pled.  So you've got mixed law and 

you've got mixed fact.  And what happens?  You have the jury determine 

whether or not the contract was breached and they can determine a 

damage amount, but with respect to the additional remedies that were 

pled, ultimately that comes back to the Court.  So if Your Honor's 

concerned about this being mixed, look at it in terms of that because 

we've got mixed issues here. 

  THE COURT:  Right.  Okay.  Thanks. 

  And as promised, Mr. Jones gets the last word. 

  MR. JONES:  Thank you, Your Honor.  Well, Mr. Freer said 

first of all you've already determined there's no ambiguity here.  Excuse 

me, that there is ambiguity here implicitly.  Then they're judicially 

estopped from arguing there's ambiguity.  They've taken a position in 

court that there is no ambiguity.  The petitioner, Mr. Jonathan Schwartz 

has testified under oath there's no ambiguity.  That means that the Court 

has to make the determination. 
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  Now, who -- the jury's going to decide if this is ambiguous?  

That's not how it works.  That's not -- nobody can argue that a jury 

decides whether a document is ambiguous as a matter of law.  Just 

that's not how it works. 

  The other point he argued is that this will contest issue was 

argued previously and that the Court determined that it was not a will 

contest.  Well, the only way that I understand the Court is getting to the 

point where a jury could possibly be used in this case is if part of this 

case involves a will contest.   

  So that's my problem, Judge.  I -- they want to have their cake 

and eat it too.  They can't say it's not a will contest years ago to defeat a 

motion that would have thrown the entire case out on their side and then 

come in here and say well Your Honor, we agree with you that this part 

of it is a will contest, because that's the only way they get to a jury is if 

part of it's a will contest.   

  So they've argued previously, and won, that it was not a will 

contest and now they're coming in and saying well, yeah, part of it is a 

will contest so we get a jury.  That is why judicial estoppel exists and I 

don't know how a party can get around that -- 

  MR. FREER:  Your Honor, I'll make the representation we've 

never asserted that this was a will contest.  If you look back at our 

original pleading, we never cite 137. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you. 

  MR. JONES:  Well then that's fine, Your Honor, but then I 

guess my question is how are they supporting their position because the 
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only way that they get -- under Nevada law, under Rule 39, under NRS 

155.150, under 30.010, the only way they get a jury for any of this is if 

part of it's a will contest and you're the one who has been making that 

point.   

  So if they're saying it's not a will contest, then on what basis 

are this -- is this Court going to allow a jury to hear any of this?  I don't -- 

I can't understand how that's possible that they would be able to take 

both of those positions.   

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. JONES:  So, Your Honor, and it's goes back to the other 

question and I'll just reference the Jones case, In re Jones which we did 

cite, 72 Nevada 121.  When construing the language of a will, the 

question before the court is not what the testatrix intended or what -- it 

should be testator -- what he meant to write but rather is confined to a 

determination of the meaning of the words used in the will.   

  So what is this jury going to be construing?  That's the whole 

point of the ambiguity.  If there's -- that's why the Court has to determine 

the intent from the language of the will, unless it's found by the Court to 

be ambiguous.  And until this Court makes a ruling as a matter of law 

that that bequest was ambiguous, there's no right to a jury.   

  So I guess what I would ask the Court to make a ruling that 

the will is ambiguous as a matter of law or that it's not so that we can -- 

both sides can have some understanding as to what the basis is to 

having a jury for any questions whatsoever. 

  My final point is -- and you said it yourself.  Repeatedly you've 
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said it.  What is this jury going to decide?  What are they going to 

decide?  That was his intent?  The case law in Nevada's clear.  The 

words convey the intent and that's something for the Court to construe, 

not a jury.  That's why in a case like this juries are not allowed, because 

it's a legal issue.   

  So yeah, I don't want to have a jury trial which is going to 

make this a much more difficult case to try, a much longer case, when 

there should not be a jury.  Absolutely, I like juries.  I typically want 

juries.  But when you're not supposed to have one, you're not supposed 

to have one.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  The -- in the Peterson case, which was 

totally dissimilar, it was a question of whether they -- there'd been a 

revocation of a will, they talk about how it was an error to not have 

allowed a jury trial because the -- they say there's -- mostly this is talking 

about the concept of destruction of a will.   

  The -- okay, so the -- in fact they concede that the revocation 

of the old will had been accomplished.  By revoking cause actually 

contained in the new will, a situation would have arisen under which the 

testator's mental capacity and freedom from undue influence would have 

been an issue for trial by jury and not for the trial as a preliminary issue 

before the court without a jury.  Under the circumstances in that 

particular case, we must reject the contention that the revocation of the 

will was an act independent of -- revocation the 53 will was an act 

independent of the execution the 55 will, so in narrowing the extent of 

our holding to the conclusion that the revocation of the earlier will and 
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the execution of the later will constituted one transaction as to 

inducement and purpose and that they were for all intents and purpose a 

unitary transaction, we do not as a consequence dispute the correctness 

of the rule stated; to wit, that where regardless of whether or not a 

unitary nature of two transactions is present, the question of interest 

involved factual issues which the will contest itself presents, the 

contestant is entitled to a jury trial of such issues. 

  So again, in the context of a will contest, whether part of it 

would ordinarily have gone to the Court, submit the whole thing to a jury. 

So here's our problem here where if we're not having a will contest, we 

have the issue of a contract.  So I -- if we're talking about breach of 

contract, that's appropriately a jury trial issue, but my problem is then is 

it so intertwined, as we -- they talk in this Peterson case, with the will 

that the jury hears the whole thing and that for me is a concern.   

  So it's less whether there's a right to a jury because there are 

issues that they're pleading where they do have a right to a jury, it's just 

this concern that I have since we started talking about this during the 

motions in limine of how much does this jury need to hear because there 

are certain things that while they might be entirely appropriate for a court 

to consider really aren't appropriate for a jury to consider.   

  So the problem here is if we get all the way through our 

contract -- was there a breach of contract, yes or no, then -- then what?  

Then we get to the next question of as we discussed years ago, the 

question -- if we got to the motion to compel, as opposed to the motion -- 

the petition for breach of contract that's the other side's motion to 
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compel, then was the -- was the bequest identified in that section only to 

be made to an entity named after him and bearing his name.   

  Okay.  Then I just -- I don't see how we can get to the next 

part of the question being answered by a jury.  At some point it -- as I 

said, it almost seems like the error was in not bifurcating because some 

of these issues are -- it's a -- if we're just talking breach of contract, was 

there a contract under which the school owed a contractual duty to not 

change its name because they had taken money from Milton on the 

premise that they would remain with that name in perpetuity, that they're 

-- yeah, they're absolutely entitled to a jury trial on that and I don't 

dispute that.   

  But the problem where we have these mixed issues where 

that then leads us into the next petition which is are they -- you know, 

can the school compel payment, the -- I think the presumption is that Mr. 

Freer said the presumption is when I denied their motion for summary 

judgment that there was no ambiguity and very clearly Milton meant this 

to only go to a school with his name.  You know, I'm not so clear on that.  

It seems to me that Milton had other motives and one of those being as 

he stated in the video as -- and as he said here in the will, this concept 

of just in general education.  That he -- this was his motivating factor 

from 30 years ago when he started the school with the initial $500,000.  

We need education for Jewish children in the Jewish religion as part of 

their -- as their school.  To me that was ambiguous.   

  So if you're looking for did I make the finding there's an 

ambiguity here, yeah I did.  I've always felt it was ambiguous.  That's 
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why I said I know there was litigation about this for years.  I don't know 

what it was about and I don't know what the outcome of it was.  So we 

have to hear all of that.   

  We have gone forward on this on the assumption that it's a 

jury trial and I think there are issues appropriate for a jury trial.  My 

concern is simply I -- we're going to have to be very careful how we 

address -- and this is probably going to be a problem because in 

openings the question's going to be how much is this jury going to be 

asked to decide.   

  We don't have our jury instructions yet, we don't have our 

verdict form.  So I don't know what the different parties are viewing as 

proper for the jury.  There are things that are proper for a jury and as 

was mentioned, in any contract case, you can always have the jury find 

the breach and what the overall damages are, but the Court then has to 

make certain other determinations.  And that's the problem we have 

here.  We haven't come to those conclusions which is going to make this 

very tricky because I do -- I'm going to deny the motion to strike the jury 

because I think there are issues here that we've always recognized 

require a jury.   

  MR. JONES:  So Your Honor, I guess -- 

  THE COURT:  My problem is that we should have defined that 

a little more clearly earlier so we know exactly what we're -- because 

essentially we are having a bifurcated trial.  We're all going to hear the 

same evidence.  The jury's looking for something, I'm looking for 

something else, and we need to know exactly what it is the jury's going 
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to be asked to do. 

  MR. JONES:  Along those lines for both parties' sake, I guess 

since we're only -- we're less than a week out from trial -- 

  THE COURT:  Days, yeah. 

  MR. JONES:  -- we -- I think we need to know what the Court 

thinks are the issues that the jury will decide because like I said, we 

believe that since they styled this as a breach of contract under Chapter 

30, that it is decided by the probate court and not by a jury and we cited 

the case law for that effect. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

  MR. JONES:  If the Court's saying that the jury -- are you 

saying that the jury will decide whether or not there was a breach of the 

naming rights agreement?  Is that what you're citing here because 

obviously that makes a big difference to both sides as to what that 

determination is. 

  THE COURT:  That -- so I think that's why we probably now 

need to shift to our pretrial conference and figure that out.   

  MR. JONES:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  Because that really is going to be the key.  

What exactly -- if we look at both the pretrial memos of the two parties, 

what exactly are -- and how are we going to -- procedurally going to 

present it?  Because technically what started this part of the case -- this 

was just a probate administration.  What started this part of the case 

was the school saying enough trying to negotiate with Jonathan, we are 

going to just move the court to compel them to distribute the money to 
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us.  Jonathan then counter-petitioned for these determinations.   

  To me and let's -- if you guys agree, I -- I hope we're 

procedurally on the same page because as we've talked, you know, my 

view, rules of civil procedure do apply and I think Mr. Freer would 

concede that.  The -- and I -- and we're going to have to decide how 

we're going to call these  -- what they're going to call these people 

because everybody's petitioners and it's just a mess.   

  So to my view, the school goes first, because it's their burden 

of proof on their motion compel, and the affirmative defenses, the 

counter-petition is second.  So the question that the -- that's kind of my 

problem.  I think their -- they present their case first.  When we instruct 

the jury, we always tell them this is how the case is going to proceed, 

and this case is going to proceed in a somewhat odd fashion.  It doesn't 

make sense.  That's kind of backwards.  But I think that's procedurally 

how you have to do it. 

  MR. FREER:  I think during the 2.67 we discussed that issue 

we were going to proceed first -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. FREER:  -- but just for clarification on the record, we did 

do an objection to their petition and then we filed a petition for dec relief 

too.  So to make it even more muddy, we're both petitioners, but it's all 

intertwined kind of like a weird little Bonsai tree.   

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. FREER:  But I'll defer if they want to say something  

else -- 
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  THE COURT:  It may -- you -- it makes more sense.  It would 

make a easier -- nothing about this is going to be easy.  It would make a 

more logical presentation it seems to me to have the estate go first.  

Technically, I think the first petition has the right to go first, but we need 

to know what we're going to tell the jury and how we really are going to 

proceed.   

  It would make a more logical presentation and, you know, 

they've got the burden of proof on their affirmative defenses.  It makes 

more sense to put those forth, explain -- put those forth and then to go 

forward on this motion to compel, because it kind of depends on the 

outcome of their affirmative defense and their request for affirmative 

relief in the form of dec relief as to whether the school's -- their request 

for relief then is just we move to compel the distribution.   

  And that seems to be mostly just related to if there are no 

other defenses and the jury finds this to be -- to disagree with me and 

the jury doesn't think it's ambiguous -- they don't have the history with 

this, but they may think that makes perfect sense and that they're able to 

divine from just the writing.  I don't think anybody can do that.  I think 

your -- you have to hear all this evidence about what Milton -- his history 

and what his testamentary intent was and what he was doing.  I think 

you need to hear all that stuff that's technically their defense to the 

school's petition to compel.   

  MR. JONES:  Your Honor, the -- well there's motions in limine 

on those issues too.  Obviously -- 

  THE COURT:  Right. 
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  MR. JONES:  -- we haven't heard those yet, but -- 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. JONES:  -- but all that evidence we believe would be -- 

that I think you're referring to we believe would be improper hearsay.  

And I understand that there's a exception to the hearsay rule for -- on 

certain issues related to a --  

  THE COURT:  Intent. 

  MR. JONES:  -- construction of a will, but we haven't heard 

those yet so I -- I'm hoping the Court hasn't -- has not already made up 

its mind as to those motions. 

  THE COURT:  No, I'm -- what I'm saying is I -- I'm just talking 

here about process -- 

  MR. JONES:  Right. 

  THE COURT:  -- and they've got the burden of proof to show 

all those reasons why their view is they should not have to do what your 

petition asks for which is compel the distribution.  And I just don't see -- I 

mean it would be such an odd case if all your client does is stand up and 

say here's the will, we don't think it's ambiguous, we want an order from 

the Court that the distribution should be made.  I still think that that 

ultimate question can't be answered by a jury.  I just don't see how it can 

be answered by a jury.  I think it's got to be answered by the Court.   

  The jury is there on their defenses which -- well their  

counter-petition, which is there was an agreement, they breached the 

agreement and for that reason, we're either not in -- they either -- this 

contract is unenforceable this -- so if the contract's -- if the contract has 
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breached or is otherwise unenforceable, then the will as a matter of law 

somehow is going to fail -- I just don't see how we're -- it's possible to do 

it with the school going first.  It --  

  MR. JONES:  We -- 

  THE COURT:  You could.  You could, but then -- 

  MR. JONES:  We have talked about that and I've said that but 

I -- I said the only way I'm wiling to do that, Your Honor, is that I still get 

a rebuttal case.  So if they go first, I put on my case in chief after their 

case in chief, they put on a rebuttal, and then I get to put on a rebuttal to 

my case.   

  THE COURT:  Because they're two completely separate 

petitions so we have two completely separate plaintiff opens, plaintiff 

puts on their evidence, they close, defense comes up, then the plaintiff 

gets to put on their rebuttal case.  They're both completely separate 

cases and I think that that's probably -- 

  MR. JONES:  A case like it's analogous to --  

  THE COURT:  -- procedurally the only way to make it work. 

  MR. JONES:  It's analogous to a counterclaim where you -- 

the party with the counterclaim gets -- 

  THE COURT:  Absolutely. 

  MR. JONES:  -- to put on their case and gets -- 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. JONES:  -- to put on a rebuttal. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

  MR. JONES:  And so the only thing I would ask --  
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  THE COURT:  I think that's how it has to be treated. 

  MR. JONES:  -- Your Honor, is that the parties be called 

petitioners because -- both parties be called petitioners because I don't 

think one is more properly the plaintiff than the other or to the extent that 

there is such a -- if there's going to be a statement as to who's the 

plaintiff and who's the defendant, then I would certainly say that we're 

the plaintiff because we brought the suit first but --  

  THE COURT:  Right.   

  MR. JONES:  -- I'm willing to concede the issue and have the 

parties --  

  THE COURT:  Typically under rules of civil procedure that's 

correct.  It's plaintiff and counterclaimant, but --  

  MR. FREER:  Your Honor, we filed first.  We filed the probate. 

  THE COURT:  In 2007 or whatever.  So I think that whichever 

-- whoever goes first I think has to be treated that way which is the party 

who goes first puts on their case, the -- then we have the defense to that 

case, and then they wrap up their case in chief with closing on that, and 

then we immediately go into the -- and some of this will -- it's going to 

overlap, but --  

  MR. JONES:  Sure.  I'm not going to be redundant.   

  THE COURT:  -- that the second -- the other petitioner will 

then put on their case, there will be a defense to that and it may 

incorporate some of the stuff they've already heard so they won't hear it 

a second time.  That will be explained to them in closing, and then they  

-- and then there's a rebuttal case on that one.   
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  MR. JONES:  The only then I again, Your Honor, I -- 

  THE COURT:  Two -- just two petitions tried back to back. 

  MR. JONES:  -- I'm willing to allow it to proceed on that basis 

as long as both parties are just referred to as petitioners.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. FREER:  I'd be fine with that or if you want to call it the 

estate and the school or Adelson School -- 

  MR. JONES:  And I'm fine with that too.  I'm just saying -- 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. JONES:  -- if nobody refers to one party or the other as 

plaintiff or defendant or plaintiff and -- 

  MR. FREER:  Right. 

  MR. JONES:  -- counterclaimant, it's both sides are petitioners 

and of course both sides have the name the estate -- one side's the 

estate, one side's the Adelson School or Adelson Campus, I'm fine with 

that.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So I think we're all in agreement neither 

party's going to be referred to as plaintiff or defendant.  They're not 

technically.  These are petitioners, counter-petitioners, and rather than 

do petitioner and respondent, we're just -- both of them are petitioners -- 

  MR. JONES:  That's fine, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  -- because they both are petitioners.   

  MR. JONES:  I'm fine with that. 

  THE COURT:  I agree that probably the colloquial or the 

simplified way of referring to them in the case would be to ask, you 
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know, does the estate have anything further, does the school have 

anything further and tell the jury when we're pre-instructing them that 

you're going to hear them -- they both have filed petitions so you'll hear 

them referred to as the estate and the school.  We'll hear the estate's 

petition first and the school's petition second.  And there's going to be a 

lot of overlap.  Don't worry, you won't be hearing witnesses two times.  

Wait until it's all over and counsel can argue to you and they'll tell you 

how those facts apply to which case.   

  And we're not going to have separate closings and openings.  

It's going to be one opening covering both cases and one closing 

covering both cases.  Okay?  All right.   

  MR. JONES:  One -- I'm sorry, one opening and one closing? 

  THE COURT:  You open once.  In other words -- 

  MR. JONES:  Yes.  That's fine.   

  THE COURT:  -- they'll go first.  They'll do their opening.  

You'll do your opening -- 

  MR. JONES:  That's fine. 

  THE COURT:  -- and then we launch into the cases.  In other 

words you're not going to wait until you start your petition to do your 

opening. 

  MR. JONES:  I'm not -- I would not do that, Your Honor, but I 

do assume that parties would get rebuttal on the closings. 

  THE COURT:  Yes.  So that means yeah, there's -- there's 

always going to be a second round.   

  MR. JONES:  But only on closing.  Yeah, understood. 
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  THE COURT:  Right.  So you'll both --  

  MR. FREER:  At the rate we're going we'd do opening for 

three days if we had rebuttals. 

  THE COURT:  Yes.   

  MR. JONES:  Well, or it's going to take a while to pick the jury.   

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. FREER:  Yeah -- 

  MR. JONES:  One of the concerns, Your Honor, is picking the 

jury we've still got to get together about -- I don't know that -- unless 

something I'm not aware of that we've agreed on all of the jurors to be 

excused either for --  

  THE COURT:  Yeah.  We --  

  MR. JONES:  -- cause or --  

  THE COURT:  We've got that.   

  MR. JONES:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  I think -- I don't know who did we get the little 

chart from?   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  That was us, Your Honor.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So we do have some agreement and 

we can just go on ahead.  Do -- anything else we need talk about with 

respect to the pretrial with -- and how we're going to go just for jury 

selection purposes -- we probably still need talk about what exactly 

they're going to be asked because they're not going to be instructed on 

all this in the end and I guess maybe that's thing tell them; that there are 

decisions here that you're going to be making, there are decisions here 
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the Judge is going to be making, we'll tell you what those are in our 

opening to the extent we can and in our closings, but we need to have 

an agreement on what it is.  So that's kind of our last thing to decide and 

I don't know if you guys are ready to do that today?   

  Did you do -- did you file your order shortening time for 

tomorrow on your reconsideration? 

  MR. FREER:  Yes.   

  MR. CARLSON:  Yeah. 

  MR. JONES:  The what? 

  THE COURT:  So we've got one more thing to do.   

  MR. JONES:  The what? 

  MR. CARLSON:  The order shortening time. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

  MR. JONES:  Oh. 

  MR. FREER:  Just on the motion for reconsideration --  

  THE COURT:  So we got one more thing to do tomorrow.  Do 

you want to think about that overnight and we'll discuss that tomorrow so 

we can move on then to this jury selection question?   

  MR. CARLSON:  Yep. 

  THE CLERK:  Your Honor? 

  THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

  THE CLERK:  May I suggest something?  For the exhibits now 

for this trial -- 

  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

  THE CLERK:  -- can you refer to Petitioner 1, Petitioner 2 -- 
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  THE COURT:  Oh we are going to -- we are going to need to 

determine because they're going to -- for marking exhibits, there are 

rules they have mark exhibits by and they need to refer on the -- 

because you have to mark every single, you know, exhibit with the 

name.  What are we -- how do we want to refer to you?  One and two?  

A and B?   

  MR. JONES:  I think we've agreed to a system, Your Honor, 

where --  

  THE COURT:  It's joint? 

  MR. JONES:  -- typically the court clerks are okay with it 

where we have joint exhibits are 1 through whatever they are.  I can't 

remember what they are.  And then the next 100 -- 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Are ours. 

  MR. FREER:  Are ours. 

  THE COURT:  Next 100 through 200 or? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  I think that's right.   

  MR. CARLSON:  Yeah. 

  MR. JONES:  Are the estate's -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. JONES:  -- and then the next group is the school's. 

  THE COURT:  So we can do Petitioner J for joint. 

  THE CLERK:  Right. 

  THE COURT:  Is that agreeable?  And Petitioner A for the 

estate and Petitioner B for the school? 

  MR. JONES:  That's fine, Your Honor, or we could just say the 
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-- just the exhibits. 

  THE COURT:  I'm just saying for their purposes when we --  

  MR. FREER:  Yeah.  We don't --  

  THE COURT:  -- tell them how to mark one.  

  MR. FREER:  I think what he's saying is that we have no 

overlap in numbers.  So -- 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. FREER:  -- it's all one -- 

  THE CLERK:  Yeah. 

  MR. FREER:  -- straight run so -- 

  THE CLERK:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  Right, but -- yeah.   

  MR. FREER:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  Okay, so just --  

  MR. JONES:  Right.   

  THE COURT:  -- so it's explained.   

  MR. JONES:  That's right. 

  THE COURT:  Okay, great.  All right.  

  THE CLERK:  Thank you.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. JONES:  Yeah.  That's what I show so --  

  THE COURT:  So we'll discuss tomorrow what we're going to 

tell this jury are their issues versus, you know, here's what you need to 

pay attention to, essentially.  The whole thing but what they're going to 

be asked to decide.   
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  So if I understand correctly, we are in agreement -- have you 

seen Mr. LeVeque's -- 

  MR. CARLSON:  I have not.   

  THE COURT:  -- chart? 

  MR. CARLSON:  I saw his email but that was the extent of --  

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. CARLSON:  I have not looked at it. 

  THE COURT:  So we probably --  

  MR. CARLSON:  Sorry. 

  THE COURT:  -- do we need copies of this?  Because they 

don't have one.  It's the green we're in agreement we can tell the 

commissioner to excuse these people? 

  MR. FREER:  We have extra colored copies.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Yeah. 

  MR. CARLSON:  If you do, that'd be great.   

  THE COURT:  So if you do, we'll just -- that's the easy part, 

just -- 

  MR. FREER:  Yeah. 

  THE COURT:  -- advising Mariah tell the following people 

they've been excused.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  So the way we set this up, Your Honor, is 

that the school sent us a list of who they thought we should excuse for 

cause.   

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  The green are their suggestions and also the 
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Court's indication for jurors that the Court excused.   

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  So we're fine on greens.  Those are 

stipulated.  The whites are the ones that we would like excused for 

cause that I don't believe the school's had an opportunity to review yet 

because I sent that email this morning before court. 

  THE COURT:  And did you agree on all of theirs? 

  MR. FREER:  Yeah.  Well we agreed -- the ones we listed 

here are the ones we agreed on. 

  THE COURT:  So did they have more? 

  MR. CARLSON:  The ones in green.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  No, there's two spreadsheets.  There's --  

  MR. FREER:  Oh. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  -- this spreadsheet which is the ones that 

we've agreed on -- 

  THE COURT:  Let's go off the record, Kerry, so let's make 

sure we're all -- 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  -- looking at the same thing.   

[Recess taken at 12:52 p.m.] 

[Proceedings resumed at 1:19 p.m.] 

  THE COURT:  All right.  So let's go back on the record.   

  Okay.  Counsel, at this point in time we're going to move on to 

the discussion of challenges for cause.  It's my understanding there are 

certain of these challenges for cause that have been agreed to.   
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  MR. JONES:  That's correct, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  And those are represented in the chart 

prepared by Mr. LeVeque, annotated in green for the record, and 

additional requests by the estate are on here in just in white. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  That's correct, Your Honor.  There were also 

additional requests that the school has that's not on the chart. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  And so we'll go to those next.   

  First of all, just for the record, for the estate, the -- do you 

have any concerns about any of the requests for challenge for cause 

being based on any appropriate factor such that there is an attempt to 

exclude a certain segment of the population under the Batson case that 

would otherwise be entitled to be represented on this jury, and if so, is 

there an otherwise valid reason for doing so? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Based on the requests to -- that the school 

has for excusal for cause, I don't see any. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So you have no concerns that we're 

excusing --  

  MR. LEVEQUE:  No. 

  THE COURT:  -- any particular group for a reason that would 

not be explained for a valid cause under the circumstances of the case? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Not this pack, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Okay.   

  So Mr. Jones, having reviewed your suggestions for recusal 

again, all of these appear to be based on a valid for cause reason 

related to bias or otherwise to a hardship. 
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  MR. JONES:  Your Honor, yes.  To answer your question, 

there's nothing in the agreed upon challenges that I've seen that I think 

would rise to the level of a Batson challenge.   

  THE COURT:  You've had a moment to review the additional 

suggestions that Mr. LeVeque has offered? 

  MR. JONES:  We have, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Do you have a -- 

  MR. JONES:  Yes.  And I -- if looking at the first page of their 

chart where the first white juror is mentioned is or is listed as badge 

number 08 dash 0049, we do not agree.  We think that that -- there 

needs to be at least some further inquiry as to that juror's 

appropriateness on the jury. 

  With respect to the next page --  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  

  MR. JONES:  I'm sorry.   

  THE COURT:  All right.  So with respect to the first request for 

challenge for cause -- you want to wait until we've gone through all of 

them and we can eliminate those that we don't have to discuss?  Is that 

your plan?   

  MR. JONES:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  Okay, so 49 is noted that we need to discuss.   

  MR. JONES:  The next one is next page is that we do agree 

with could be excluded is 080121 -- 

  THE COURT:  Yes. 

  MR. JONES:  -- William Wilson.   
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  THE CLERK:  Pull him out of here if they're going to agree. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah.  Okay.   

  And again here, he not only has some conflicts with 

scheduling but is -- admires the Adelsons for their philanthropy.   

  MR. JONES:  Yes, and after reading the questionnaire, I'm not 

going to dispute that one.  I'm not going to -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Then moving on to the third 

page. 

  MR. JONES:  Third page, Your Honor, there's the next one 

they have listed that they would like to include is 080513.  We think that 

after having actually read the questionnaire, there's a potential for 

hardship there, but it depends -- as I understood the questionnaire, 

depends on if the husband is in town or not so I think it be more 

appropriate to have that juror come in.   

  THE COURT:  Okay, and -- all right, so we'll discuss that one 

next.   

  MR. JONES:  The next one on their list is 080597. 

  THE COURT:  And we've determined that should be four 

seven?  That was a typo?   

  MR. JONES:  No, it should be nine seven.   

  THE COURT:  It is nine seven? 

  MR. JONES:  It looks like four seven. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So it's nine seven. 

  THE CLERK:  I'm sorry, which one is that?   

  THE COURT:  Zero five nine seven, Eric Pena. 
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  MR. JONES:  Yes, Your Honor, we would agree to exclude 

that juror.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  He has out-of-state travel plans. 

  MR. JONES:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  All right.  Granted. 

  MR. JONES:  Just that'll be gone. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. JONES:  Next one is on their list 080677, Lori Dunn.  We 

would agree to exclude that juror. 

  THE COURT:  This juror as a child who attends the academy. 

  MR. JONES:  Yes, Your Honor, that's correct.   

  THE COURT:  Thank you.   

  MR. JONES:  That's actually should be green? 

  MR. CARLSON:  Yes.  Just make it --  

  MR. JONES:  Just to be clear, it's my understanding the next 

one at least on our list shows 080688, Angeles Robinson.  It's my 

understanding that actually should be one that was agreed to by both 

sides.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  All right.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. JONES:  And then the last page of the chart -- Mr. 

LeVeque's chart is badge number -- well just for ease of reference, 860, 

Phillip Johnson. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

  MR. JONES:  We did not agree to exclude that juror. 
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  THE COURT:  Okay.  So on Mr. Johnson references that he 

likes Adelson and -- again his philanthropy he's familiar with that, but 

also is concerned about living paycheck to paycheck.  So -- okay, so Mr. 

LeVeque, having heard their responses, are there any that you want to 

give up or do you want to argue for bringing them in or do you -- or you 

agree to bring them in or do you want to actually argue today to have 

them excused for cause? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  The ones that they don't agree with we want 

to argue excusal for cause. 

  THE COURT:  For today.  Okay. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  So then we'll look first then at juror number 49, 

Alisa Tagg.  She references two things which are being familiar with 

Review Journal and knows Adelson, so I don't know the extent to which 

she claims to know him?   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  And I think that that -- that basis there might 

be a reason for more inquiry, but we also have the fact that she's got a 

dental procedure scheduled on August 27th which will squarely be within 

the middle of our trial and, you know, she's got a young son.  So I think 

the fact that she's got a dental procedure alone warrants excusing for 

cause.  She's got dental procedure set up, but in addition to that we 

have concerns --  

  THE COURT:  Right.  And with respect to timing, depending 

on the day of the week, we can work around some people's 

appointments.  That would be a full day of trial, that would be the second 
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Monday, that would be the 27th, so that would be a full day of trial if -- 

depending on what she's got if -- did she explain what kind of procedure 

it is?   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Let me see. 

  THE COURT:  Because I'm -- is it something can be 

rescheduled or --  

  MR. LEVEQUE:  It just says I'm having dental work done 

already scheduled for 8/27.  This is question 82, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  Uh-huh. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  And number 83 this is also hardship.  I have 

a nine-year-old son who I care for and I would need to get to school.  Oh 

but she said she could have family help so I mean that's not the big one.  

The fact she's got a dental procedure set up is probably the one that 

gets her excused the most easily and then of course we have questions 

that we would want to ask her if not excused for cause at the time. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So you're not referencing the fact that 

the other part of her answer on 82 is I have a conference hosting on 9/6 

to 9/7 if the trial goes long.  The anticipation is it will not go long.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Well right now we're only scheduled for two 

weeks so I guess -- who knows what's going to happen.   

  THE COURT:  And with respect to knowing Mr. Adelson, she 

doesn't provide any additional information, simply indicates when asked 

do you know of them, Republican through Review Journal.  So -- 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  And I have no idea what that means. 

  THE COURT:  -- no other -- I mean that alone would not be 
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enough.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yeah, it's -- that warrants -- 

  THE COURT:  But it's --  

  MR. LEVEQUE:  -- further inquiry but -- 

  THE COURT:  The previously scheduled dental procedure? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  I think that's sufficient for excusal for cause. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right, thanks.   

  MR. JONES:  Your Honor, in all my years of doing it, I mean I 

certainly am empathetic, but if we start doing that at this stage of the 

process, I mean there's some that I get and we try to be reasonable and 

let as many people go as possible but that alone -- and there's certainly 

no bias there.  There's no evidence of bias. 

  THE COURT:  No. 

  MR. JONES:  And the dental procedure, like you said, I think 

we got to have further inquiry of her and whether or not that's a problem 

rescheduling it.  There are three half days during the week.  So I just 

don't think that's sufficient basis --  

  THE COURT:  Yeah, it depends on the nature.  I mean if she's 

going in for her annual x-rays, that's one thing.  If she's going in for 

stage one of a root canal, you know, that would be another because if 

she needs -- it's kind of far out to say it's any kind of an emergency 

procedure.  It may just be routine.   

  So I do think we should inquire into the nature of the dental 

work if it is in fact something that's possible to reschedule if it's some -- 

the soonest she could get in for some sort of an emergency.  I mean this 
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was done back at the first of July and so it's been scheduled a long time.  

I think we could inquire further about the nature of it.   

  She hasn't sent anything from the dentist indicating further 

information.  The people who we have excused already are people who 

sent us actual -- something from an actual doctor saying here's what's 

going on and why I would request you excuse my patient.   

  So merely having this procedure scheduled, I think we do 

need to know what the nature of it is, so we will let her come in for jury 

selection and see -- one of the first things we always inquire about are 

there people who previously requested a hardship that we needed you 

to come in and provide more information for, so we'll certainly call on her 

early to see if there's a reason that we can consider it's more serious 

than it sounds.  I mean right now it sounds like a pretty big thing.   

  I'm kind of with Mr. Jones on this one.  Merely saying she 

knows that Mr. Adelson is a Republican and owns the Review Journal, 

she doesn't say that causes her bias one way or the other so --  

  MR. LEVEQUE:  I agree we got to ask questions about that.   

  THE COURT:  Yeah.  Okay.  So we'll follow up on here.   

  We are in agreement on page 2 on juror number 121, William 

Wilson, he will be excused.   

  On page 3, 513, Kimberly Fornal-Doran.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  This one, Your Honor, as it states in our 

summary, her husband is now around, he's out of state for work, and 

she is primary caregiver for her six-year-old.  I don't know, if that was my 

wife, I think that would be pretty difficult for her to come to a two-week 
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trial given those circumstances. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  And she says she's got no other family she 

can rely on.  That's additional comments on question 83, page 14. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Okay. 

  MR. JONES:  Your Honor, I'm -- 

  THE COURT:  Yes. 

  MR. JONES:  -- usually pretty -- 

  THE COURT:  Yes. 

  MR. JONES:  -- agreeable to those kind of hardships, but I -- 

and I don't have it in front of me, but my recollection she said if her 

husband is out of town for work, then she has nobody else to have her 

son watched if she's -- if he's in town, then he could watch their son.  So 

that's the question.  If he's going to be out of town, I think then that 

makes a major difference.  We just don't know as I -- and this is going 

from my memory what she said but --  

  THE COURT:  She -- he seems to me he was at one point he 

worked at the Grand Lux Restaurant inside the Venetian which is I'm 

assuming a four-walled operation.  I don't believe it's licensed.  I don't 

think the Venetian runs it.   

  MR. CARLSON:  No. 

  MR. JONES:  Huh-uh. 

  THE COURT:  So technically he would not have been 

employed.  She seems to think that they're related to Nathan Adelson 

Hospice, totally different family.   
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  MR. JONES:  Yeah. 

  THE COURT:  Because she's a nurse.  I'm not sure I 

understood, and you guys might know better what this is, have you or 

any family member ever had a child attend a private school?  If yes, 

please name the school.  The Shenker Academy, S-h-e-n-k-e-r.  Is that 

another Jewish school? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yes.  My wife actually used to work there.  

It's actually pretty close to the Adelson School, but it's a different entity. 

  THE COURT:  Is that the one that's at the other -- at the 

Temple Sinai? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yeah.  

  MR. CARLSON:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So it was a good and bad -- 

good and bad experience.  It was a nice school but too expensive.  I 

mean she doesn't seem to have an issue with the type of education.  I 

don't know if this was -- she doesn't tell us if she sent him here for 

religious reasons or because it was a -- she liked the school.  So I -- you 

know, this seems again to me to be somebody who there's some stuff in 

here that might -- with further development we might find out if you -- we 

might all be uncomfortable with her.  I just -- I don't know.  I mean I'm -- 

they don't talk bad about each other at the schools.  I mean they're not 

going to -- I can't imagine that she's going to have heard anything about 

the Adelson School just because her kid was at Shenker for a while.  Is 

that the one that has a really good preschool?   

  MR. CARLSON:  Yes. 
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  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yeah, but --  

  THE COURT:  They -- I mean I know -- I know people who are 

LDS, I know people who sent their kids to that particular --  

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yeah. 

  THE COURT:  That particular preschool is really well thought 

of. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Shenker is good, but the fact that she 

worked there is not the concern.  The real concern -- 

  THE COURT:  Oh no, her kid went there. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Sorry? 

  THE COURT:  Her kid went there.  

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Oh yeah, but it's -- the bias that we see here 

is that she likes the Adelsons for what they've contributed to society.  I 

mean that --  

  THE COURT:  Oh no, where is that one? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  That's 45.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  I mean if that's not bias, I don't know what is. 

  MR. JONES:  Well there's a difference between somebody 

likes somebody and that they can't -- I mean I've --  

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. JONES:  -- I've had lots of jurors sit who say yeah, I 

admire that person, it doesn't mean I can't follow the court's instructions 

and that I'm so bias that I cannot --  

  THE COURT:  Right. 
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  MR. JONES:  -- that I'm not going to be able to put that aside 

in making a decision.   

  THE COURT:  Yeah.  I --  

  MR. JONES:  That -- if that's the ground -- 

  THE COURT:  I think there's a lot here, but I do think I agree 

that this is one that we may need to get some more information on 

because I do -- I do have some concerns mostly about the nature -- it's 

not really -- I appreciate they ask these questions, but technically this 

really isn't about the Adelsons so I need something in addition.  I mean 

it's not -- technically they're not parties.  I mean he's only participating 

because he's president of the board.   

  So I think that's what we have to ask is the fact that he is the 

president of the board of this organization going to cause you to favor or 

disfavor the organization and I think that is another one that can be 

pretty easily dealt with early on.  So I would just indicate we -- you know, 

we can certainly just plan early on to call on the people that we need 

specific answers to.  She would be pretty far down she probably 

wouldn't be in the first group of 20, but we can certainly inquire further of 

the ones --  

  MR. LEVEQUE:  And that's fine.  I think I understand the 

Court's logic there, but I think it's -- the reverse situation would also 

warrant further inquiry where we've got questionnaires in here that say 

they don't like Sheldon Adelson.  I think it's -- it's no different than 

someone saying I like Adelson, so -- 

  THE COURT:  Right. 
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  MR. LEVEQUE:  -- I think it would be -- 

  THE COURT:  And that's --  

  MR. LEVEQUE:  -- the same logic that would apply to those 

as well. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah, and that's what we need to follow up on.  

I mean I agree one -- saying once that I know who he is and he's a 

Republican, that's not enough for me.  It's got to be coupled with 

something else and for her, I have some questions about her, but I don't 

know that she's necessarily going to have a bias.  I'm just questioning 

she sent her kid to a Jewish school, does she favor religiously based 

education.  I mean those are the kinds of questions I'd want some more 

on because I agree there's a lot of red flags about her, but nothing that I 

think would be entirely inappropriate just on the surface. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  So the Court agree then that with respect to 

her claim that she likes the Adelsons and for all they've contributed 

society, that would warrant further inquiry? 

  THE COURT:  Yeah it does, yeah. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  Absolutely. 

  THE CLERK:  I'm sorry, that was number what, 121? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  That was 513. 

  THE COURT:  513. 

  THE CLERK:  Oh I skipped.  Thank you.   

  THE COURT:  Yeah, so that one we're going to deny the for 

cause at this point certainly without any kind of prejudice to inquire 
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further and see if there is a -- if there are grounds.   

  Okay.  So we've got on -- the next page we've got two that are 

agreed on.  Oh, no they're all three agreed on, aren't they?   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yep. 

  MR. CARLSON:  Correct.  

  THE COURT:  Five ninety-seven, 677 and 688 were all 

agreed?  So the only one left is 860?   

  MR. JONES:  That's my understanding, Your Honor.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So -- and this is Mr. Johnson who, 

again, likes Adelson and/or maybe for his charity work, but doesn't -- 

and states he has a hardship.  I'm not sure we know the extent of that 

hardship.  

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Page 14, Your Honor, question 88, he states 

he will not be able to pay rent, he lives paycheck to paycheck and he 

has three kids in college. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. JONES:  Your Honor, if it's a hardship issue, I certainly 

am sympathetic to that situation.  I've been doing this long enough to 

know that the courts typically want to inquire further of a prospective 

juror about those issues because sometimes it's a bit of an exaggeration 

on the jury form as to, you know, whether or not there's really that dire of 

a situation.  So he may very well be a candidate that we would let go for 

hardship, but I would think that we need to make some further inquiry of 

him before we just do it right now. 

  THE COURT:  And I -- do we know what he -- what the nature 
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of his work is?  I mean some people they worry about paycheck to 

paycheck because like they're tip-dependent, but their base salary may 

still be covered by their employer and they just have never asked and 

don't know they'll do that.  A lot of larger employers will.  I'm not sure if 

they -- he's a journeyman.  He's a -- I don't know which union.  But if 

he's in a union, electrical union, I don't know if they -- if one of their 

benefits -- if they cover jury -- some of them do.  So I would want to 

know.  Let me see.  Oh and his wife works for Bombard Electric.  Okay.  

  Yeah, I would want to know if he's inquired as to whether the 

employer will cover him for some or all of his jury duty.  Some will.  I 

know that others absolutely don't.  So that would be an area of inquiry 

so again, I'm going to deny that at this point for further inquiry into the 

nature of the hardship.   

  And again, we'll certainly call on those people who were on 

the list early so they don't -- aren't sitting here for a day or two waiting to 

be asked questions.  So we'll just make a note of the ones that we need 

to follow up on.  I don't know -- and now is that all of yours, Mr. 

LeVeque? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yes. 

  MR. JONES:  Those were all the ones that were on --  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So then we need to --  

  MR. JONES:  -- his list that he wanted to add to our list. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  And so then we need to --  

  MR. JONES:  As I understood. 

  THE COURT:  -- hear then from the Adelson School to the 
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extent that they have additional that aren't on the agreed list. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  And, Your Honor, this is where we're still 

unfinished with reviewing.  We've gone through maybe 12 of them.   

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  We got about another 30 to go through. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  But if we want to go -- if want to make a 

record the ones that --  

  THE COURT:  That you could agree on so we can let the jury 

commissioner know immediately to notify them? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  At least as far as we've gone so far -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  -- 16 --  

  THE COURT:  So that's juror number 0016? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Correct, 0039, 0045 and 0054.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So you're in agreement with those four? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yes. 

  THE COURT:  Okay, and you -- and you've got some more he 

-- I think they indicated maybe 30 -- 

  MR. CARLSON:  Give or take. 

  THE COURT:  -- additional? 

  MR. CARLSON:  Yes, that we have. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So at this point in time since 

we appear to have reached the limit of what we can do with our jury lists, 

the question to put to counsel is it is now 1:40.  We probably all need a 
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break, at least for lunch.  My question is do you want to come back and 

complete the argument on our remaining motions in limine or if we are 

going to be here tomorrow, is it your preference we do that tomorrow?  

I'll leave it to the parties. 

  MR. JONES:  What time is the hearing tomorrow again, Your 

Honor?  I can't remember. 

  MR. FREER:  One forty -- 

  THE COURT:  1:30 and you're on with Rosenau.  Do you 

know -- have you talked to Mr. Luszeck about whether they -- they come 

in every time and they're like give us some more time, we're working on 

a settlement.   

  MR. FREER:  Oh tomorrow afternoon? 

  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

  MR. FREER:  I believe they are drafting a settlement 

agreement.   

  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

  MR. FREER:  That's the one with Tom Grover on the other 

side?   

  THE COURT:  Yeah.   

  MR. FREER:  Yeah. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah, it's the -- yeah, so you're on at 1:30, they 

were on at 2.  I don't think they need their evidentiary hearing or -- I think 

it was actually motions in -- motions for summary judgment they're 

arguing, but I -- they indicated give us two weeks, we'll have an 

agreement for you so I don't -- so I think you've got the afternoon. 
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  MR. FREER:  I will represent that I reviewed the settlement 

agreement this morning. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So it seems like they're working on a 

settlement agreement.  What do you think?  Would you prefer to just 

have lunch and come back tomorrow with these things done?   

  MR. FREER:  The only concern I've got is if we can push 

through a little bit more, we do have a lot of stuff that we need to get 

done with, and I do have a closing argument tomorrow morning -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. FREER:  -- but --  

  MR. JONES:  What else do we -- so we've got the motions in 

limine and the -- 

  THE COURT:  I mean we'll -- we'll give them time on these 

jurors, they can finish the jurors tomorrow.  But we do have these 

motions --  

  MR. JONES:  In limine?  Right. 

  THE COURT:  What have we got?  Okay. 

  MR. JONES:  I'm okay -- that's fine.   

  THE COURT:  Okay, the ones we've got left are --  

  MR. FREER:  Well here's my -- hang on, let me -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. FREER:  -- talk to him for a minute because -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. FREER:  -- I haven't even started my closing argument 

yet for my --  
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  MR. JONES:  Well listen I understand that.  I'm going to need 

a little time to deal with that. 

  MR. FREER:  Let's go talk -- 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Could we have couple minutes --  

[Off the record at 1:43 p.m.] 

[Proceedings resumed at 1:45 p.m.] 

  MR. FREER:  I -- based on if -- if we go tomorrow, how much 

time are we going to have blocked out?  Are we going to be able to 

finish all of the motions tomorrow? 

  THE COURT:  The afternoon.  Yeah.  You'll have the 

afternoon.   

  MR. FREER:  Okay.   

  THE COURT:  Based on hypothetical representations you 

may have made.   

  MR. FREER:  And hopefully my hypothetical weren’t 

misrepresentations.  I'm fine pushing over those hearings tomorrow.  

That'll give me time to prepare for that.   

  With respect to the juror stuff, do we want to come back?  Do 

you want to finish that up today? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Have to break for lunch and go through it.   

  MR. FREER:  Do you want to finish up the jury --  

  MR. JONES:  It's up to you guys.  I don't care.  I mean we -- 

what -- the plan would be then we -- if we did the jurors -- rest of the 

questionnaires today, we take a lunch break and then come back after 

lunch?   
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  MR. LEVEQUE:  We need the lunch break to go through all 

these.   

  MR. FREER:  Yeah, we would be able -- 

  MR. JONES:  Right. 

  MR. FREER:  -- to save time doing that.  Yeah.   

  MR. JONES:  All right, well I figured --  

  THE COURT:  So we'd come back at what, like three? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yeah.   

  THE COURT:  If you don't --  

  MR. JONES:  That's fine, Your Honor, if that's -- that's all right. 

  THE COURT:  -- mind?  Or if you think you could just -- you 

just need like half an hour, we just need to know because we have to tell 

them they might need to get somebody to come and cover for them 

since it's not a full hour long break.  If we can give them an hour, I'm 

okay, but if we can't, we'll have to ask for them to have coverage so they 

can have an hour.   

  MR. JONES:  It's up to you guys. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Say the hour. 

  MR. FREER:  Yeah, let's do the hour.   

  THE COURT:  Okay, so come back at three?   

  MR. JONES:  That's fine.   

  MR. FREER:  And that way we can --  

  MR. JONES:  That's fine, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  One more thing for the record, I will let you 

know that we do have from -- a request for excusal for Andrea Johnson, 
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who is badge number 24, which reads it's from U.S. Army Major 

Shamika Scott -- oh, Dr. Shamika Scott.  She -- and she indicates that 

Ms. Johnson is the only family advocacy program coordinator and it's 

critical to the operation that there -- that she be available at this 

particular time of year, there's no one else to replace her if she has to be 

on leave.  She has to go to Southern California and Los Angeles during 

the week of August 20th and a command inspection in -- I mean this 

woman's -- I don't know what her job is but they sure send her around 

the western United States.   

  I -- it appears that she does have orders to visit at least two 

different installations and they request that she take -- she be taken off 

the jury at this time.   

  MR. FREER:  I'm not one to argue with the Army. 

  THE COURT:  That seems appropriate to me based on the 

representations of her supervising officer that she's a critical position 

that they can't otherwise fill.   

  Okay.  So we'll see you guys at three.   

  MR. JONES:  Thank you, Your Honor.   

  THE COURT:  And we'll finish up just the jury selection issues.   

  MR. CARLSON:  Okay.   

  THE COURT:  Okay, thank you.   

[Colloquy between the Court and staff] 

  MR. JONES:  We'll be back at three, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  We'll see you guys at three, thanks.   

[Recess taken at 1:49 p.m.] 
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[Proceedings resumed at 3:03 p.m.] 

  THE COURT:  … in order to complete the for cause 

challenges to potential jurors, so counsel, if you're ready to proceed? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yes, Your Honor.  We've reviewed all the 

additional requests made by the school.  We'll agree to excuse the 

following.  

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  And I'm going by --  

  THE COURT:  Can you give us a number and a name? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Oh?   

  THE CLERK:  Yeah, that --  

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yes.   

  MR. CARLSON:  My chart won't have the name, sorry.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Does your chart have that? 

  MR. CARLSON:  It doesn't have the names.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  It doesn't?  Okay.   

  MR. CARLSON:  No.  I just have juror and badge.   

  THE CLERK:  Now these are not on the list?   

  THE COURT:  Correct.  These are additional.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Okay.  One twenty-six, juror 126 which is 

Gerard Sotelo; badge number 248 and that would be Judith Sandoval; 

374, that is Nina Garcia-Bautista; 393, that's Rosa Miranda; 406, 

Maryann Ramos; 413, Rachael Sand; 438, Antonella Medina-Carevic -- 

  THE COURT:  Pardon?  Could you spell last name? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yeah, it's C-a -- well, hold on.  C-a-r-e-v-i-c.   
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  THE COURT:  Okay.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Six eleven (sic), Rupert Gallo; 633, Tracey 

Kreuzer; 720, Frances Abadia-Rivera; 780?  Is that right?   

  UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Yeah. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Seven eighty, Chuntel Perreira; 782, 

Adrienne Grover -- I'm sorry, Adeline Grover; 869, Lisa Adams; 923, 

Steven Fredericksen.  That will be the group that we have no objection 

to excusing. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Again and in reviewing these you saw 

no cause to be concerned that there was any effort made to exclude a 

group for any reason that was not justifiable under the nature of the 

case? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  No. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  Great, thanks.  All right.  So were there 

additional person with whom you did not agree should be challenged -- 

should be excused for cause?   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Well there are some that the school believes 

should be excused for cause and we disagree -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So there were some that you did not 

stipulate in other words to every one of them. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Correct.  Yeah.   

  THE COURT:  Got it.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  There's about 23 of them.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So are there additional 

potential jurors who the school believes should be challenged for cause?   
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  MR. JONES:  Yeah -- if you're asking me, Your Honor, yes.  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So if you can give us the 

numbers and we can pull the --  

  MR. JONES:  Fifty -- well these are based on what I 

understand has not been agreed to the ones that we wanted to -- 

  THE COURT:  Correct.  

  MR. JONES:  -- exclude for cause:  50, 54, 55, 185, 206, 315, 

322, 331, 392.   

  MR. CARLSON:  And there's more, wait.   

  MR. JONES:  Oh, I'm sorry, that's the first -- I think you said 

23, Alex? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yes.  I counted 23 --  

  MR. JONES:  So there's some more too. 

  THE CLERK:  I'm sorry, I didn't catch that number?   

  MR. JONES:  The last one I said was 392.  And then also 401, 

410, 423, 437, 500, 699 -- 

  MR. CARLSON:  Oh wait, not 699.  That was pulled by 

accident. 

  MR. JONES:  I'm sorry.  Should be 704? 

  MR. CARLSON:  Yes. 

  MR. JONES:  704, not 699, sorry. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  I think that might be 709.  I couldn't tell. 

  MR. CARLSON:  Oh, you know what, that is --  

  MR. JONES:  You know, it is -- just yeah, it looks like a four. 

  MR. CARLSON:  Let's make sure I didn't pull 704 on accident. 
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  MR. JONES:  Okay, well --  

  MR. CARLSON:  Let me just -- let me just make sure.   

  MR. JONES:  You're going to change the whole pack. 

  MR. CARLSON:  I think that's 709.  They didn't sign it and 

that's -- I think that's 709.   

  MR. JONES:  Why don't you just check back there -- 

  MR. CARLSON:  What's the -- do you have that name?   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  It's badge number 1042 -- or juror number 

104235.   

  MR. FREER:  Name? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Looking for it. 

  UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  Donald.   

  MR. CARLSON:  Donald.   

  MR. FREER:  Donald.   

  MR. CARLSON:  Okay.  Yep.  That's right. 

  MR. JONES:  So be 709.   

  MR. CARLSON:  Yes, 709. 

  MR. JONES:  So the next one in order is 717, 749, 787, 902, 

904, 920 and 939 I think? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yeah. 

  MR. CARLSON:  Yes, I believe.   

  MR. JONES:  Okay.  So those are the ones we wanted 

excused for cause but they did not agree. 

  THE COURT:  Okay.  And again, Mr. LeVeque is it kind of the 

same thing as earlier, you wish to inquire further because the grounds 
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stated, while they gave raise to questions, you just need more inquiry or 

were there any that you felt were being improperly excluded? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Some of them I think require further inquiry, 

some I don't think raise any issues.  It just depends on the -- 

  THE COURT:  Okay. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  -- on the ones we're talking about. 

  THE COURT:  All right.   

[Colloquy between the Court and JEA] 

  THE COURT:  Ms. Denman wasn't able to find 54 in the box 

so with respect to Number 50, Paige Lynette Lefevre, Mr. Jones? 

  MR. JONES:  Yes, Your Honor.  Got a bit of a problem with 

this one -- 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  I do have 54 if you'd like to make a copy. 

  THE JUDICIAL EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT:  I'm trying to figure 

out -- still should be on here.  William Wilson, right? 

  THE COURT:  Yeah.  They have it so if we need --  

  MR. LEVEQUE:  I have it as Andrea Smith.   

  THE JUDICIAL EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT:  Fifty-four? 

  MR. CARLSON:  Fifty-four is --  

  THE COURT:  William Wilson.   

  THE JUDICIAL EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT:  Are you going by 

the badge number?   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yes. 

  MR. CARLSON:  Andrea Smith is 54. 

  THE JUDICIAL EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT:  Fifty-four.   
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  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yeah --  

  THE JUDICIAL EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT:  Oh, okay, yeah.   

  THE COURT:  Oh, so you're going by the -- by these numbers 

over here.  Okay.  All right.  Got it. 

  THE JUDICIAL EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT:  Okay, so here's 

50.  Let me look because maybe they just did another 59, whoever 

threw this together.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  So let's look first at 50 -- let's 

make sure we're all looking at the same one.   

  MR. JONES:  Yes, Your Honor. 

  THE COURT:  So that's Joseph Rubin. 

  MR. JONES:  Yes.  So there's a couple of little issues I have 

with this prospective juror starting on question 45, I find the Review 

Journal to be a bias rag and Sheldon Adelson to be a despicable human 

due to his destructive political expenditures.  And then if you go to page 

12 where it lists the name of the witnesses, question 80, Sheldon 

Adelson, disgusting political -- 

  THE COURT:  Bias. 

  MR. JONES:  -- bias and lies.  Then if you go to page 13, 81, 

have you ever read, seen or heard any information the media, et cetera, 

et cetera, if you ask which individual witness or companies do you learn 

about, Adelson's greed is the answer.  And then what did you learn, that 

Adelson I guess lied to get money redirected from public school funds to 

the --  

  THE COURT:  Raiders stadium. 
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  MR. JONES:  -- Raiders stadium.  And then what opinions 

have you formed as result of learning this information, that private 

schools are awash in money while our public schools struggle for the 

better -- or for the something.  And then --  

  THE COURT:  Basics. 

  MR. JONES:  -- 82, is there anything you believe might affect 

your ability to serve as a juror in this matter, yes.  Yes please explain.  

I'm biased against the Adelson --  

  THE COURT:  Brand.   

  MR. JONES:  Brand, yes.  So there is stated pretty 

unequivocally that there is a bias and she thinks he's a despicable 

person and I -- I note your point about this isn't about him personally, but 

it's about a school that's named after him and he's chairman of the 

board.  That's about as strong of bias as I've ever heard in my almost 40 

years of practice by a prospective juror.  I think it would be inappropriate 

and I certainly would not want to have that juror in voir dire saying those 

kind of things in front of this court to further establish admitted bias 

which potentially taints the entire jury pool which case I would probably, 

Your Honor, if forced to do that, ask for a mistrial that we get a whole 

new jury.   

  THE COURT:  So Mr. LeVeque.  On the one hand, I'm not so 

concerned about things like the private schools are awash in money and 

our public schools struggle for the basics; that, you know, he directed 

money away from public school funds to fund the Raiders stadium.  

Those kinds of things don't really bother me. but I'm biased against the 
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Adelson brand.  I mean his business isn't even technically branded 

Adelson.  I mean it's Sands.  So Adelson brand?   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  I think the problem, Your Honor, is that if 

we've already made a determination that by simply saying I like Adelson, 

I like the charitable work, I don't like Adelson, I don't like his political 

positions, what's the spectrum where the Court makes a determination -- 

  THE COURT:  Bias.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  -- before -- right. 

  THE COURT:  Bias.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Bias. 

  THE COURT:  And so nobody else has actually said I'm 

biased in favor or biased against.  Admitting a bias takes a lot --  

  MR. LEVEQUE:  And that's -- that comes to my second --  

  THE COURT:  -- for somebody. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  -- point, Your Honor.  I have a feeling that 

they're saying this stuff to get out of the jury.   

  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  I mean it's so over the top that I think they 

just wrote it for the specific purpose of being excused for cause.  I would 

want the opportunity to ask them under oath, you know, about this and if 

it's really just an excuse to get out, because that's not a justifiable 

excuse to lie on a questionnaire to get excused from a jury.   

  THE COURT:  Yes, Mr. Jones. 

  MR. JONES:  Yes, Your Honor.  That's -- first of all, I -- the 

point is well taken certainly from our perspective is that even people that 
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said they liked Sheldon Adelson didn't say they were bias in his favor, 

that they would be biased pro-Adelson, they said they like the guy.  That 

is not a basis to challenge somebody for cause.   

  And this juror -- and like you point out, the Adelson brand 

that's -- this school is branded the Adelson -- Dr. Miriam and Sheldon G. 

Adelson Institate -- Inst- -- Educational Institute -- Institute.  Can't talk.  

It's late in the afternoon.  

  But this issue about this person is simply over the top and that 

they're really just trying to get out of jury duty, if you look at this person's 

answers in toto, that is not what's going on here.  In fact, the question 

right above 45 that where she calls Sheldon Adelson -- finds him to be a 

despicable human due to his destructive political expenditures, she says 

she knows about the Adelson School.  I know a teacher who teaches at 

Adelson's Campus and likes it a whole lot there.   

  So it's not like she's going out of her way to say that 

everything in here is that she wants to get off of jury duty.  She seems 

like a -- actually an honest person who sounds like probably pretty 

liberal and that's why we ask a lot of these questions because Mr. 

Adelson is a person who is in the public eye a lot more than most 

prospective litigants and that's why we ask about moving the embassy 

from Tel Aviv to Jerusalem because some people are very incensed 

about that and we saw that in some of these other questionnaires where 

people are very upset about that.  So those are -- and blamed it on Mr. 

Adelson, so this person -- and I have to assume the Court would agree 

you have to presume they sign these things they're stating what they're 
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telling us under oath that it's to be true.   

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. JONES:  So I think we would ask this juror be removed 

for cause. 

  THE COURT:  I'll remove him for cause.  He specifically 

stated he has a bias.  All these other people have opinions, they know 

about things, but nobody has said specifically -- and I appreciate the fact 

this person may be -- he may be fairly sophisticated because, you know, 

he has a master's degree, he works for Teach For America, so he's 

probably more sophisticated than your average juror, but I don't know 

very many jurors who would know they need to say the word bias. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  I understand the Court's ruling. 

  THE COURT:  So -- 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  I just want to address something that was 

stated by Mr. Jones.  You know, political affiliation, whether you're liberal 

or conservative, whether you like the move of the embassy, that's 

irrelevant in my mind to whether someone is biased or not so I just want 

to be clear that -- that's perfect for a peremptory challenge if Mr. Jones 

wants to do that when we come to select a jury, but I just want to make 

sure we're all on the same page that -- 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  -- the Court's excluding this for stated bias 

and nothing else. 

  THE COURT:  For stating that this person has a particular 

bias against the, quote, Adelson brand, and the thing that triggers that 
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for me is if you're talking about the -- a brand, his business isn't branded 

Adelson.  His business is branded Sands.  So the fact that he -- what he 

knows about him is about Adelson and not about a huge corporation, it's 

personal.  And as I said, this isn't a lawsuit involving Mr. Adelson as a 

person.  I don't think this guy could put that aside.   

  Because that would be the question.  This isn't about him, he's 

just here as a representative of the board, school has his name, fine, but 

it's not a lawsuit about him, it's not about him.  I -- when somebody says 

I have a bias against this person as a brand, to me that's something 

where the -- just the name itself, he's not going to be able to separate it.  

So I'm going to grant that peremptory challenge.   

  Andrea Smith, number 54 is our next person.  Did we ever find 

her? 

  THE JUDICIAL EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT:  No.   

  THE COURT:  We don't have her, so Mr. LeVeque, if --  

  THE JUDICIAL EXECUTIVE ASSISTANT:  I have three of 

these missing, so --  

  THE COURT:  -- if you have that one, appreciate chance to 

see it. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Your Honor, this one might actually save 

some time.  I didn't review it myself because it looked like there was two 

55s.  Somehow we found 54.  This person stated she's going out of 

town the 26th through 29th.  I've got no objection to excuse --  

  THE COURT:  Okay.  So I'll withdraw that objection.  So we'll 

add her to the list of people who are excused. 
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  MR. JONES:  And that was our only objection to that particular 

juror --  

  THE COURT:  Number 54. 

  MR. JONES:  -- was a hardship issue. 

  THE COURT:  Okay, so then that -- so that one is granted.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Did you want a copy, Your Honor, still? 

  THE COURT:  No, if that's the -- if you're -- 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Okay. 

  THE COURT:  -- agreeing that the only challenge on that one 

is she's got a scheduling conflict, great.  They'll just put her right back in 

the pool, she'll get called in a few months.   

  Fifty-five?  That's Mr. Haskell.   

  MR. JONES:  Yes.  Your Honor, I guess to be clear too, with 

respect to issues like moving the -- I just want to comment because I 

think it's important for the Court to understand where I'm coming from.  

The fact that somebody doesn't like the move of the embassy from Tel 

Aviv to Jerusalem isn't necessarily in and of itself the basis for challenge 

for cause.  It gives us information that may lead to a -- evidence of bias 

so it's a factor.  I was using that as an example of a problem. 

  This next juror, the 55, it's a similar -- this is Matthew Haskell, 

a similar issue.  If you look again at number 45, if you checked yes to 

any of the companies or individuals in question 44, do you like or dislike 

any such company or individual and if so, please explain why for each.  

A love and integrity -- or I --  

  THE COURT:  I have an intense delight -- dislike for Adelson? 
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  MR. JONES:  I can't -- my reading is not very good.  Yes, I 

have an intense --  

  THE COURT:  I have bad handwriting.  I can read anything.   

  MR. JONES:  -- dislike for Adelson and Las Vegas Review 

Journal primarily due to their political positions and negative treatment of 

public education.  So this is a case that involves public education, 

obviously, and Mr. Adelson.   

  If you look at, again, the questions on page 81, which 

individuals do you know?  Sheldon Adelson.  What did you learn?  That 

he intends to control the media promotion in Las Vegas.  What opinions 

have you formed as result of learning this information?  I have a very 

negative opinion of SA, Sheldon Adelson, due to his political alliances or 

unfavorable impact on local media.   

  And then he goes on to -- and this is the other reason that we 

have asked that he be excused, and this is not the first time I've seen 

this happen.  This is somewhat of a problem when you're asking for a 

jury to be seated at the beginning of the school year.  He's a teacher 

and he says that his ability to serve as a juror, yes, is something it would 

be -- this trial would start during the second week of the school year and 

missing two weeks at this time would have a significant negative impact 

on the continuity of instruction for 2,000 -- 

  THE COURT:  Two hundred.   

  MR. JONES:  -- 200 plus students for the rest of the year.   

  He also goes on in great detail -- either further detail on the 

next page, further explanation of question 82 about how this would be 
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very problematic for him and I have often seen the courts for this very 

reason excuse a juror teacher for hardship.   

  He also says do you have any ethical, religious, political, 

philosophical or other beliefs that may prevent you from serving as a 

juror or may make it uncomfortable for you to be a juror sitting in 

judgment of others, yes, I'm an atheist would not be I guess comfortable 

judging elements that have a religious foundation.   

  THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  

  MR. JONES:  He also has -- he's a type 2 diabetic, severe 

neuropathy in lower limbs, so making prolonged sitting painful.   

  THE COURT:  Mr. LeVeque. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Your Honor, I guess --  

  MR. JONES:  Says short-term memory issues.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  I guess I'll handle them in reverse order.  His 

medical conditions clearly don't prevent him from working.  He appears 

to be a high school teacher at Green Valley.  Public high school 

teachers get excused for maternity leave and jury duty all the time.  I 

don't think that's an issue that would warrant excusal for cause.   

  Again here we have evidence that he has a dislike for Adelson 

and the political positions that he's taken and the LVRJ, but first of all, 

what does the Review Journal have do anything do in this case?  Mr. 

Adelson, as the Court has stated, is not a party to this and, you know, if 

we're talking about likes and dislikes, I mean I get the last one where we 

talked about expressly stated bias.  This one doesn't rise to that level.   

  THE COURT:  I would agree I -- I will tell you that I have a 
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couple of concerns.  The two are that it may be with respect to his 

medical condition that he can accommodate that at work.  He might be 

able to explain to us what he does that would be any different from 

sitting here.  We take breaks every hour and a half, those kinds of 

things.  Is that going to be a problem for him.  And it might be. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  It's worth asking him.   

  THE COURT:  It might be that he's able to stand and sit and 

do whatever all through the day and that helps him.  May be something 

that we could accommodate, it may not be.   

  But the ultimate question as you've pointed is does all this add 

up to a bias against -- again, this concept that even just the name 

Adelson being attached to the school is that going to be such a bias that 

you couldn't listen fairly or that you would start off biased in favor of the 

other side just because of that.   

  But the one that Mr. Jones raised that is interesting and 

uncommon, we don't see it a whole lot.  We usually see it more in the 

context of people who, because of a religious belief, do not believe that 

they can, just as a matter of their religious faith, sit in judgment on 

someone else.  He's not saying that.  What I understood him to be 

saying is that because he's an atheist, just the fact that this is a religious 

school, he'd be -- I don't know what it means be uncomfortable with it? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  It doesn't make sense to me because these 

claims are --  

  THE COURT:  So -- 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  -- breach of contract and will construction. 
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  THE COURT:  And that's what I think needs to be explained to 

him that -- but, you know, on the other hand, one part of this, as I said, is 

this idea that the background for why both Melvin and Jonathan feel so 

strongly about this, as represented through like the rabbi and others, is 

this is -- and I don't know.  I don't know this.  This is an important thing 

for them as part of their religious beliefs and if that would so turn this guy 

off that he couldn't be fair to either side because this is about a religious 

school, even though the claims aren't, I mean would that so cloud his 

view of the case?   

  I mean so there are real problems with this guy, I agree with 

you.  Some of them I think we could accommodate and some of them 

might not really be a problem.  It might be, just like you said, this guy 

really wants off.  He doesn't want to miss the first two weeks of the 

school year and he just really wants off, but some of this, and again it's 

kind of the reverse of what I usually see, really might be a problem with 

the whole idea of a religious school.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  We just got to ask some questions about 

that. 

  THE COURT:  And so I will tell you upfront the -- this guy 

appears to have a whole lot of problems so I'm -- I'm not prejudging him, 

but I'm just saying that this guy is a pretty close call and just depending 

on what he has to say.  I think we need to bring him in and find out.  Like 

with the medical issues, some of those things, you know, we can work 

around.  They'll get him a substitute.  I'm not worried about some of 

those things.  That religious thing is -- I just don't know how much of a 
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trigger it's going to be.  So I think we need to find out.  So with him we'll 

bring him in.   

  One eighty-five. 

  MR. JONES:  Yes, Your Honor, just to be clear, with respect 

to people that have expressed specific directed negative opinions, in this 

case a very negative opinion of Sheldon Adelson, I would ask that those 

jurors be voir dired on issues about Mr. Adelson outside the presence of 

the other jurors so as not to taint the entire jury pool. 

  THE COURT:  Understood. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  I have no objection as long as the people 

that like Adelson are also in the same sequestered questioning. 

  MR. JONES:  Well, I guess we could see that if -- when it 

comes along.  I don't know that --  

  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

  MR. JONES:  -- we've seen a whole lot of people that have -- 

  THE COURT:  And that might be like on a case-by-case basis 

and if you feel that you're going to need to get into things that are not 

appropriate, we can just ask certain jurors to wait in the hallway on a 

break or -- they can come in and talk to us outside the presence of the 

others.  You can just flag them and we can do that as we need to bring 

them in or not and just avoid those types of questions in front of the -- 

the problem with this, and I appreciate this in advance; I'll just tell you I 

don't know if we can avoid it, is the blurter outers.  There's always going 

to be somebody who -- you know, in a typical lawsuit involving a car 

accident, there will be somebody up there saying my insurance 
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company settled a car accident for me.  Every time, you -- 

  MR. JONES:  Right. 

  THE COURT:  -- you know this --  

  MR. JONES:  I do --  

  THE COURT:  -- there is somebody who will blurt it out.  We 

can't always anticipate who those people are, so somebody might blurt it 

out and I would suggest we would just accept thank -- thank you, we'll 

have move questions later, move on and then ask them to come back -- 

  MR. JONES:  I think that's -- if something like that happens, 

Your Honor, I think it's the best way to handle it. 

  THE COURT:  It's the only way we can do it so just ahead of 

time, we can't guarantee somebody won't say something in front of the 

other jurors.  There's no way to protect it.  There -- somebody may think 

Sheldon Adelson is the most wonderful person in the world because he 

gives $50 million to a school, he's just the most wonderful person.  They 

might blurt that out.  We can't avoid it and we'll just cope with it and 

explore it further on the next break so just so -- otherwise we'd be taking 

each person one at a time, we can't do it.   

  Okay, 185. 

  MR. JONES:  Yes, Your Honor, 185 primarily has to do with if 

you look at page 13, questions 82 and 83.  He's a one-man operation 

with no backup for his cover business, and then he also says that be 

hardship because he lives with his mother-in-law with dementia.  Also 

his daughter lives with him and has three children; his wife share care 

and supervision of the kids. 
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  THE COURT:  Yeah.  So just with respect to the hardship, Mr. 

LeVeque.  Doesn't seem to be many other issues with him but --  

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Is that your only issue, Randall? 

  MR. JONES:  Yeah. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Just the hardship?   

  MR. JONES:  Yes, he's got an opinion of Mr. Adelson that I 

think is inappropriate but he doesn't say it in the terms that these other 

people have used.   

  THE COURT:  I mean he's got some problems -- on page 7 he 

talks about how he's had problems with nonpayment of contractors 

involved with the Sands -- and he understands Sands Corporation 

equals Adelson.  He gets it.  This guy's pretty sophisticated.  He doesn't 

say he's biased.   

  MR. JONES:  Right.  That's why I did not specifically raise the 

bias issue, Your Honor, even though that's something I certainly want to 

inquire of him at -- if he is allowed to proceed even though I believe 

there's a hardship issue with this prospective juror. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah, and he's going to know -- he'll know a 

little bit about law, his wife worked for John Momot.  Doesn't indicate if 

that was like up till his recent death.  And that his daughter currently 

works for Tony Sgro.  Again those guys don't do any -- anything -- 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Sure. 

  THE COURT:  -- related to this.   

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Here are the only two questions I want to ask 

him -- I'm not going to be terribly difficult on this man if he has a real 
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issue, but he's got no backup to cover business.  I think it's a reasonable 

question to ask him what does that mean in terms of dollars; is there any 

other way that you can, you know, bridge the gap for the next couple 

weeks.  And then, you know, he does have his wife to help out with the 

mother-in-law and the kids, so I'd kind of just like to inquire further into 

that if there's anything else that can be done. 

  THE COURT:  It's my impression he -- he says he is a real 

estate broker, so not knowing exactly what that entails, it seems like 

pretty much it's not something he can do from home; that this is -- he's 

out in the field and so this means he's out of the house so who takes 

care of mom?  So I can see how there are some questions about it.  

  Again, just on the surface I don't think that we can disfavor 

one business person over another.  I am more concerned about just the 

additional burden of the additional family burdens that he has.  So for 

that reason -- I mean he actually is a pretty sophisticated guy.  He was 

on the creditors committee for the USA Mortgage bankruptcy.  I mean 

good businessman.  Looks like he would be a really favorable guy.  The 

concern here is caring for the family.   

  If you want to inquire further into the how significant of a 

problem it would be for him, I mean I kind -- the kind of problem we have 

is how do you say well it's okay to keep somebody on who's a teacher in 

the first two weeks of the school year worried about his class of -- 

classes of 200 students, but we're going to go let some guy go because 

he works from home and has grandkids?  I mean it's kind of hard to 

justify so we'll listen to what he has to say.  So I'll deny that one as well.   
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  So 206. 

  MR. JONES:  206, Your Honor, again relates to this issue of a 

dislike of Mr. Adelson, the fact that he has -- clearly has political views 

that are different than or not aligned as he said with Mr. Adelson. 

  THE COURT:  Well, and again, I know what Mr. LeVeque's 

going to say is that so what?   

  MR. JONES:  Just making my record, Your Honor, that I 

believe that anybody that has specifically stated because Mr. Adelson -- 

this isn't just a matter of the school, it's the school with Mr. Adelson's 

name on it.  Mr. Adelson is a controversial person with -- in many 

people's opinion and that that is an issue that I believe leads to a bias 

against my client.  You can't divide the Adelson School from Mr. Adelson 

personally in terms of the jury's association of the two and therefore I 

think -- and there's other questions he answered related to the Israeli 

embassy and the U.S. embassy in Israel, Review Journal and the Trump 

administration so I understand we're going to get people that have 

different political viewpoints, but I -- and I -- by the way, I wouldn't feel 

quite so strongly about it if we weren't in this particular point in time in 

our country.  The polarization is certainly in my lifetime more stark than I 

can never remember -- 

  THE COURT:  It is and it's -- it is a concern and I think a lot of 

people have very strong feelings one way or the other about political 

contributions and the fact that the one percent have so much influence.  

And the thing I saw in this particular juror was his view that you're -- 

huge donations mean you're buying favor.  And again, while we're not 
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making this about religion, those are the kinds of things where because 

we're going to get into the whole idea that, you know, Milton Schwartz 

with -- with his hopefully total of $1 million expected to have the school 

named after him but the Adelsons come in and they pay 50 million.  You 

know, I don't know if that's going to bias somebody so I think we have to 

keep that in mind.  I'm more concerned about that really than the 

politics.   

  MR. JONES:  Well and, Your Honor, the only reason I bring 

up the politics is because of the bias so you're right, in and of itself the 

politics is not the issue, it's whether -- 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. JONES:  -- the politics bias the prospective juror to the 

point that I'm not going to get a fair juror for my client. 

  THE COURT:  Right, and that is the one where that's the 

question is, is the fact that he's already said I view people who make big 

donations as basically currying favor I think -- he didn't use those terms, 

but, you know, buying something, buying -- I forget the term he used. 

  It's right there in the thing, Mr. LeVeque.   

  But does all this add up to the fact that we're -- it's going to -- 

we're going to have to get into that and I appreciate that, you know, 

while we may not be letting the rabbi talk about that, some of that's 

going to come up.  It comes up with Dr. Sabbath, it comes up -- it'll come 

up with Jonathan.   

  So that's really more my concern is somebody -- would that 

trigger then somebody who starts out with this view already, would he, 

002748

002748

00
27

48
002748



 

Page 103 

 
GAL FRIDAY REPORTING & TRANSCRIPTION 

10180 W. Altadena Drive, Casa Grande, AZ  85194     (623) 293-0249 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

 

and I don't know how we get at this, favor or disfavor this whole concept 

that's behind this whole idea of naming rights.  It's really a critical point 

and that's more troublesome to me than I don't like Republicans and I 

stopped subscribing to the Review Journal.  So? 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Sure.  Well, with respect to this juror, Your 

Honor, I guess the question you'd ask him in voir dire is, you know, the 

evidence that it's likely to come on in this case is both sides contributed 

money to a school and at some point it was named after both, does that 

make any difference to you whatsoever -- 

  THE COURT:  Right. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  -- the fact they were both --  

  THE COURT:  Because that's really my -- my bigger concern 

is, is he --  

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Yeah.  He could say yes or no.  And then -- 

  THE COURT:  Is he going to view this as some sort of like a 

competition or something?  That is just my -- my fear is that somebody 

who -- people do have very strong feelings about philanthropy and they  

-- it's interesting.  Some people say that charity should be totally 

anonymous or it's not really charity.  So that's -- I just -- he didn't say 

enough about what his views really are on that to figure out if he's really 

-- has such deeply-seated concerns about charity that he'll have a 

problem with this case no matter what because it's a question of can he 

be fair to both sides.  He may not be able to be fair to anybody. 

  MR. LEVEQUE:  Could be. 

  THE COURT:  So that's my worry about him.  I'm just putting 
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that on the record.  So we'll bring him in, we'll see if we can clarify to see 

if he could be otherwise fair because I agree with you his opinion about 

respective political parties in and of itself -- you know, a lot of people are 

going to have opinions.  That's what Mr. Jones has pointed out.  We just 

need to explore them.   

  So 315 is Christen Johns.  And Christen has a master's 

degree.   

  MR. JONES:  Yes, Your Honor, if you look at, again, 

questions 44 and 45, again, I'm familiar with Sheldon Adelson in a 

construction contractors lawsuit years ago where he failed to pay 

several subs contractors (sic) for their work at the Venetian -- 

  THE COURT:  And that may be what the other guys was 

referring to.  I --  

  MR. JONES:  I'm sorry? 

  THE COURT:  I may -- that may be what the other guy was 

referring to.  I don't know what that's talking about.  I don't know --  

  MR. JONES:  Yeah, that's -- the initial --  

  MR. FREER:  The Venetian litigation I think --  

  MR. JONES:  -- original Venetian tower litigation. 

  THE COURT:  Oh, okay.   

  MR. JONES:  My firm actually was on the other side of that 

case from the Sands, ironically. 

  THE COURT:  Yeah. 

  MR. JONES:  That resulted I think in a nine month jury trial in 

front of Judge Thompson or somebody.  
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